
Page 1 of 2 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
MEETING AGENDA 

September 15, 2021 – 1:30 PM 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNOR’S EXECUTIVE ORDERS N-25-20 AND N-29-20 
THE SMART BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING WILL BE HELD VIRTUALLY 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY NOT ATTEND THIS MEETING IN PERSON 

ZOOM TELECONFERENCE INSTRUCTIONS  

PUBLIC COMMENT PRIOR TO MEETING: 
If you wish to make a comment you are strongly encouraged to please submit your comment by 5:00 
p.m. on Tuesday, September 14, 2021 at https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/SMARTBoardComments

PUBLIC COMMENT DURING THE MEETING: 
The SMART Board Chair will open the floor for public comment during the Public Comment period 
on the agenda. Please check and test your computer settings so that your audio speaker and 
microphones are functioning.  Speakers are asked to limit their comments to two (2) minutes. The 
amount of time allocated for comments during the meeting may vary at the Chairperson’s 
discretion depending on the number of speakers and length of the agenda.   

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of the September 1, 2021 Board Minutes

3. Board Member Announcements

4. General Manager’s Report

5. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items

6. Consent Calendar
a. Accept Monthly Ridership Report - August 2021
b. Approval of Civic Edge Consulting Contract Amendment No. 2
c. Approve a Resolution Confirming Documentation of Salary of Former SMART General

Manager, Lillian Hames

Page 1 of 105

https://www.sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Board/COC%20Documents/Zoom%20Information_09.15.2021.pdf
https://www.sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Board/COC%20Documents/Zoom%20Information_09.15.2021.pdf
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/SMARTBoardComments


Page 2 of 2 

Regular Calendar 

7. Authorize the General Manager to Award a Sole Source Purchase Order to MAHLE Industrial
Thermal Systems America, L.P in an amount of $200,581.36 for Specialized Diesel Multiple
Unit (DMU) Maintenance Equipment

8. Approve a Resolution authorizing the 1) Reaffirming and updating the SMART Title VI
Program and Nondiscrimination Policy; 2) Submittal of the document to the Federal Transit
Administration; and 3) Allowing the General Manager authority to make non-policy and
administrative changes to the SMART Title VI Program as needed, with changes reported to
the Board

9. Next Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, October 6,  2021 – 1:30 PM

10. Adjournment
________ 

DISABLED ACCOMODATIONS: 
Upon request, SMART will provide for written agenda materials in appropriate alternative formats, or 
disability-related modification or accommodation, to enable individuals with disabilities to participate in 
and provide comments at/related to public meetings. Please submit a request, including your name, 
phone number and/or email address, and a description of the modification, accommodation, service or 
alternative format requested at least two (2) days before the meeting.  Requests should be emailed to 
Leticia Rosas-Mendoza, Clerk of the Board at lrosas-mendoza@sonomamarintrain.org or submitted by 
phone at (707) 794-3072. Requests made by mail SMART’s, 5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200, 
Petaluma, CA 94954 must be received at least two days before the meeting. Requests will be granted 
whenever possible and resolved in favor of accessibility. 

Page 2 of 105

mailto:lrosas-mendoza@sonomamarintrain.org


Page 1 of 11 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
September 1, 2021 - 1:30 PM 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNOR’S EXECUTIVE ORDERS N-25-20 AND N-29-20 
THE SMART BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING WILL BE HELD VIRTUALLY 

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY NOT ATTEND THIS MEETING IN PERSON 

1. Call to Order

Chair Rabbitt called the meeting to order at 1:34pm. Directors Arnold, Bagby, Colin, Connolly,
Fudge, Garbarino, Gorin, Hillmer, Lucan, Pahre and Rogers were present.

2. Approval of the July 21, 2021 Board Minutes

MOTION: Director Colin moved approval of July 21, 2021 Board Minutes as presented.
Director Arnold second. The motion carried 9-0 (Directors Garbarino, Hillmer and Roger no
audio).

3. Board Members Announcements

Chair Rabbitt stated that the progress continues with the hiring of the General Manager. The
AdHoc Committee met and there are good and solid candidates. On September 9th two
community panels will interview the candidates and on September 10th the Board will meet
and interview the candidates. He thanked everyone for their participation.

4. General Manager’s Report

General Manager Mansourian announced that last week, SMART celebrated its 4th year
Anniversary. Despite floods, fires and the pandemic, SMART’s staff continues to provide
service. Since the start of passenger service in August 2017, SMART has carried 2,051,464
passengers, 219,000 bicycles, and over 7,900 wheelchairs.

He stated that during the discussion and approval of the Capital Projects it was recommended
that a feasibility study be conducted for the Puerto Suello Pathway in San Rafael.  Chief
Engineer, Bill Gamlen will provide an update and status of the study.

Page 3 of 105



Page 2 of 11 

Chief Engineer, Bill Gamlen, said that staff embarked on the feasibility study for pathway 
options for the Puerto Suello Hill. The City of San Rafael and SMART hired Zoon Engineering 
firm to develop concepts, and they come up with a few general alignments. On August 12th 
they met on site with the Marin Bicycle Coalition, Warren Wells, Transportation Alternatives 
for Marin, Patrick Steidler, City  representatives, Zoon Engineering and engineers. They 
reviewed the various alignment concepts, received good feedback, and will develop those 
concepts further with associated cost and pros and cons. Once all the information is compiled, 
we will bring it back to the Board. 

Comments 
Director Colin thanked SMART’s staff for following up and having a Puerto Suello meeting. 
She stated that she looks forward on the feasibility study and update. 

Chair Rabbitt stated that SMART is still in its infancy , which means we can continue to  have 
opportunities and grow. Obviously, we would like to have a more boring existence and not 
have constant wildfires, floods, pandemics, and other strife among us. Nothing's been 
smooth in those four years; the one thing that has been consistent is the dedicated 
professionals in the SMART’s staff. He thanked the entire staff for all the work that they've 
done to date, and he is excited about what the future of the organization.  

5. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items

Richard Brand asked if there was an issue with Zoom and asked the Chair to provide a brief  
update of what had been discussed since he missed the beginning of the meeting.  Chair 
Rabbitt responded that staff gave a brief update of the Puerto Suello Feasibility Study and 
SMART’s 4th year anniversary. There was a glitch initially on the zoom link, and it was fix 
quickly. 

Eris Weaver stated she had difficulties getting into the meeting. She was very happy to meet 
with Emily Betts, SMART’s Principal Planner used to be on the Sonoma County Bicycle 
Coalition Board of Directors. She and Warren Wells from the Marin Bicycle Coalition have had 
some very productive meetings. She is feeling very positive and optimistic about working 
together. She said she has been reviewing the legal documents and comments regarding a 
City of Santa Rosa application for an extension on the Jennings Avenue Crossing,  which the 
Sonoma County Bicycle coalition supports and will be filing its own documents with the 
California Public Utility Commission, since the deadline is later this month. She is not sure if 
the Board really discussed it unless it was during a meeting she did not attend. 

Warren Wells stated that Eris Weaver along with Directors Bagby, Lucan and Rogers rode on 
the SMART pathway. He is planning a similar ride along the Marin County segments and 
SMART pathway. A couple of weeks ago, he sent invitations to members of the Board, and he 
has heard back from a few and wants to invite staff to join. Once he has a list of interested 
members, he will start to find a date that will work for everyone. He thanked staff for the 
invitation to attend the Puerto Suello field visit and to the SMART Board, especially Mayor, 
Kate Colins, for allocating funding for the feasibility study. He echoed Eris Weaver for her 
comment on SMART hiring Ms. Betts to be part of the planning staff.   

Page 4 of 105



Page 3 of 11 

Rick Luttmann stated that we are in the fall of 2021 and have three years until the next 
presidential election during which, he presumes SMART is going to ask the voters once again 
to authorize continuation of the SMART tax fund. He is a supporter of SMART and rail, and 
wants to see SMART succeed; however, he is worried that the extension will not get 
approved. In 2008, there were various groups that supported SMART and at this time lots of 
enthusiasm has been lost. He urged the Board to recognize this and try to rebuild those 
coalition city councils to support you, chambers of commerce, private organizations such as 
to the bike coalitions and the Sonoma County Conservation Action and persuade people who 
don't live near the rail line to support the tax because people who don't ride the train benefit 
when other people do. He hopes this will be a very high priority for the new General Manager. 

6. Consent
a. Accept Monthly Ridership Report – July 2021
b. Approval of Monthly Financial Reports – June 2021

Chair Rabbitt asked for Board and public comments on the proposed Consent Agenda. 

MOTION: Director Lucan moved approval of the Consent Agenda as presented. Director 
Bagby second. The motion carried 12-0. 

7. Authorize the General Manager to Award Contract No. OP-PS-21-004 to Modern Railway
Systems for Track Driver Extra (TDX) Dispatch System Technical Support Services, Rail
Network Technical Support Services and Rail Network Management System Implementation
for an initial term of one year, with a total not-to-exceed amount of $157,000

Manager of Train Control Systems, Aaron Parkes, stated that SMART’s commuter and freight
service depends on the reliable operation of our computer-aid train dispatching system and
the fiber optic network that provides communication across SMART’s network. These
systems were initially placed in 2017 and operate continuously. The dispatch system and
network require monitoring, maintenance, and troubleshooting. These activities must involve
personnel with specialized knowledge, training, and experience.

SMART needs a third-party technical support for the computer-aided dispatching system, the
fiber optic rail network, and the implementation of a rail network management system.

Modern Railway Systems (MRS) was the designer and system integrator of SMART’s Initial
Operating System which opened in 2017 as well as the Larkspur Extension and Novato
Downtown Station in 2019.

MRS is also the designer of SMART’s upcoming Windsor Extension and finally SMART’s
computer-aid dispatch system is proprietary to MRS .These factors make MRS, uniquely
qualified to perform this work.

Page 5 of 105



Page 4 of 11 

Staff recommends authorizing the General Manager to award the contract to MRS for 
dispatch system technical support services, rail network technical support services, and rail 
network management system implementation for an initial term of one year, with a total not 
to exceed amount of $157,000. The funding for the first year is included in the adopted Fiscal 
Year 2021-22 budget and assumed in subsequent years. 

Comments 
Vice Chair Pahre stated that SMART will receive a staggering amount of support for the 
contract. 

MOTION: Vice Chair Pahre moved to Authorize the General Manager to Award Contract No. 
OP-PS-21-004 to Modern Railway Systems for Track Driver Extra (TDX) Dispatch System 
Technical Support Services, Rail Network Technical Support Services and Rail Network 
Management System Implementation for an initial term of one year, with a total not-to-
exceed amount of $157,000 as presented. Director Arnold second. The motion carried 12-0.  

8. Authorize the General Manager to Execute Contract Amendment No. 1 with Nossaman, LLP
for specialized legal support services in the amount of $200,000, for a contract not-to-exceed
the amount of $275,000

General Counsel, Tom Lyons, stated that Nossaman has provided SMART legal services in Real
Estate negotiations prior to the start of operations. Nossaman has specialized legal expertise
in a variety of real estate and transportation

Staff recommends authorizing the General Manager to execute Contract Amendment for an
increase amount of $200,000 for a not to exceed amount of $275,000.

Comments
Rick Luttmann asked for clarification of the amount of the contract. District Counsel, Tom
Lyons responded that the contract amendment amount is $200,000 and the original contract
was $75,000

MOTION: Director Arnold moved to Authorize the General Manager to Execute Contract
Amendment No. 1 with Nossaman, LLP for specialized legal support services in the amount
of $200,000, for a contract not-to-exceed the amount of $275,000as presented. Director
Bagby second. The motion carried 12-0.

Director Garbarino left at 2:10pm

9. Approve a Resolution Amending the Fiscal Year 2021-22 Budget by Budgeting $3,151,221
in projected American Rescue Plan (ARP) Funding; Authorize additional spending authority
of $427,907;  and Authorize Position Changes

Chief Financial Officer, Heather McKillop, stated that the item before you  today is to
approve a Resolution to amend the Budget for fiscal year 2021-22 to include funds from the
American Rescue Plan (ARP).

Page 6 of 105



Page 5 of 11 

The Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) received $1.7 billion in ARP Funds. For 
the ARP distribution, MTC has allocated the first tranche amount to the Sonoma County 
Transportation Authority (SCTA) on behalf of the Sonoma County operators. SMART and 
SCTA have met on various occasions to discuss the distribution of the funds. The goal of the 
ARP funds is to restore service to pre-pandemic service, SMART should receive $3,151,221. 
The budgetary adjustments can be seen on Attachment 1 (page 79 or 89) of the packet. 

We are adding (4) Engineer/Conductor positions, for which the hiring can take 
approximately 6 months. With the hiring of additional Engineer/Conductors, SMART will be 
able to add more service. We are asking for additional revenue vehicle maintenance cost 
and fuel. 

Position Changes: 
As mentioned, we are asking to add (4 ) Engineer/Conductor positions. We are reclassifying 
the following position titles: 

▪ Procurement Assistant to Purchasing Assistant
▪ Accounting Assistant to Accounts Payable Technician
▪ Accountant to Accountant I

The changes are being proposed to better clarify the position and get qualified applicants. 

Comments 
Director Colin thanked Ms. McKillop for the presentation. She said she contacted Chair 
Rabbitt to receive clarification on the agenda item language. She understands the agenda 
item is requesting two approvals: 1) is accepting the ARP funds and 2)  how they're going 
to be allocated. She is concerned, that the Board has not had a higher level at 30,000 feet 
strategic conversation about what are we going to do with these funds, we always have 
priorities and there isn't an endless amount of funds her concern is that we're being asked 
to make a tactical specific approval when those kinds of overarching strategic discussions 
haven't taken place and it could be everything from how are we going to get back to our 
ridership, to as our public comment we'd heard earlier, critical issues such as a renewal of 
the sales tax. Are there other ways and other things we might want to be allocating those 
funds, she was concerned that they're all combined. The position  clarification makes sense, 
she asked why it's embedded and said it would be easier to have this conversation if things 
were spread apart and done more subsequently. 

Ms. McKillop responded that these funds were specifically designed to return to pre- 
pandemic service that it is the goal of MTC and the Board who met on  numerous occasions 
and had that conversation; those funds need to use towards that goal. It does not mean 
that overtime there might be funding available, to accomplish additional tasks and items, 
we are relying on the work that had been done previously in the year during the listening 
sessions discussion. We move forward with as far as the welcome back campaign and those 
type of items which were to return to pre-pandemic service. During the budget, it was 
discussed that SMART did not have funding and ARP funds were not available at that time, 
and  it was decided that when that time came, staff will bring it back to the board and 
program those funds. 

Page 7 of 105



Page 6 of 11 

From staff’s perspective, the Board had that consideration already, and the  goal was to 
move forward if SMART received funds to restore more service. Another, big piece is  the 
amount of time it takes to hire and get them trained to act as Engineer/Conductors on our 
system, and we had a lot of conversations with MTC allowing SMART to move forward with 
this pending their approval either in September or October. The reason is that they 
understood the amount of time it takes for hiring. 

Budgeting the funds  from a revenue perspective, and allocating them at this time, you will 
realize that there is a pretty big difference between the $3.1M and $427K that is being 
allocated into the fund balance. At this current time the funds are not needed until SMART 
hires staff and increases service. In the future we probably will need those funds because 
we calculated the need over a three year period. 

Director Colin asked of the MTC fund designation only for personnel costs. Ms. McKillop 
responded that the funds can also be used for fuel and operating costs. Don't think they 
had  intended for that to be used for capital. If the Board decided not to increase service, 
SMART would not receive funding and that conversation would have to be held, because I 
know there are a lot of other agencies that would be anxious to receive the funding that 
SMART has received allocation for.  Director Colin stated that the Board received the raw 
data from the listening, but the Board members didn’t have a strategic discussion from that 
listening session. 

Chair Rabbitt stated that on the listening sessions, we did summarize what was common 
and then implemented actions and some have been incorporated. Even with the hiring of 
the four additional Engineer/Conductors,  staffing would be difficult if service was restored 
on Sundays.  When the second round of funds become available through MTC those will be 
for post pandemic, post COVID on transit and going forward, which will be interesting 
because we will have a better idea of what the new workplace patterns are going to show. 

Director Lucan stated that regarding the listening sessions and Director Colin, it may have 
been the meeting you miss, however the Board did receive a summary and we have 
mapped out many of them of the major topics that came up. We have already begun to 
undertake others pending. He suggested that the General Manager send out the summary 
again because  we did map out the topics over the next several months. 

Chair Rabbitt stated that what the Board heard was more trains, service, hours, days, and 
cheaper fares. 

Public Comments 
Richard Brand stated that financial issues can be sticky especially when you have naysayer 
that want to pick things apart. It would be very prudent to allocate the funds on how they 
will be used. He said that the Citizens Advisory Committee is supposed to oversee the 
finances and they have not met in a year. He suggested that the group be activated and 
meet at a later and time to discuss especially since the voters will have to approve the 
renewal of sales tax. 

Page 8 of 105



Page 7 of 11 

Steve Birdlebough stated that there is a strong interest in weekend service, and he hopes 
to soon have a conversation to recover weekend service. He asked if some of the resources 
can be shifted from midday to weekday service to be able to operate on both weekend 
days, which could involve some tricky staff arrangements.  

Rick Luttmann thanked Director Colin for bringing up the matter of two action items. 
Incorporating the $3M into the budget is a no brainer, however what is going to be done 
with that money. It is important to have the Board consider priorities as Director Colin 
suggested.  

Dani Sheehan stated that she can’t wait to see everyone in person. She said that the funding 
can always be re-appropriated later, however it needs to be approved to secure receiving 
the funding and not lose it.  She can’t wait for Sunday service to be restored and she is not 
sure if it is contingent on the ferry service.  She asked when the ferry will start service on 
the weekend. 

Chair Rabbitt asked the General Manger to respond to a few comments mentioned. 
General Manager Mansourian responded to the following: 1) the Citizens Oversight 
Committee does not oversee the financing; however they are responsible to prepare the 
Strategic Plan every five years; 2) the next General Manager will work on creating a different 
Citizens Oversight Committee with members and specific duties as decided by the Board; 
3) the Board has set the priorities, not staff; 4) the Board asked staff to provide the raw
data from the listening session, which was presented. Then staff was asked to go into
specifics and over the next several sessions we divided that raw data into very specific
sessions, you received presentations by various staff and in each of those sessions, the
Board made specific actions, for example, what kind of data should we use, what should we
prepare and keep and report. Whether we should be having the farebox recovery per
person or per mile those were the kind of decisions that were made.  On the schedule, what
the Board directed staff to do was to restore the weekdays travel back and add the late
evening trips, since that was being asked from the public. Also, asked staff to get back to
the weekend, as soon as the ferry was ready and we reported at that time based on our
available Engineer/Conductor, we could not and still cannot provide the public with the
same level of service on weekday and Saturday and Sunday.

What SMART’s Chief Financial Officer presented to the Board is based on MTC wanting all 
transit agencies to get funded, to get back to their pre-pandemic service and have agreed 
to allow staff to spend the funds to hire the four (4) Engineer/Conductors to restore service 
to pre-pandemic staffing for train operation and under that scenario we will a position to 
offer weekday as well as Saturday and Sunday. 

General Manager Mansourian stated that he is not aware of when Golden Gate Ferry is 
going to start Sunday service, however we work very closely with each other, and he is sure 
they will inform staff. SMART’s staff continues to monitor the activities in San Francisco. 
Until the conventions, concerts and offices open on Sunday might be questionable but 
that's why we're putting ourselves in a position of having trained staff and the required 
training and certification, we can quickly react to that. He said he will send out listening 

Page 9 of 105



Page 8 of 11 

sessions information and all the discussions your Board had, and the direction and 
recommendation given to staff. 

Therefore, the recommendation today is to get ready to restore that pre-pandemic level of 
staffing, to have weekday and both Saturday and Sunday service when it's time to do so. 

Director Bagby stated that she is little surprised that these items have come up because 
having been new to the board trying to pay very close attention and get up to speed it 
seems that this is policy direction that has been extensively discussed and vetted by the 
Board and we did set this policy. In conjunction with staff, we honestly ask them how we 
get back to this level of service, they did an analysis and they answered it, and the answer 
to that question is on page 76 of our packet. In the first paragraph under ARP expenditures, 
the last sentence…”We have determined that to get to pre-pandemic levels of service, we 
need four (4) additional Engineer/Conductor. The hiring and onboarding process takes 
practice approximately six months”. 

This money needs to be spent to get us back to pre-pandemic service, the analysis has been 
done, the recommendations have been made and would like to see the Board move 
forward with this thoroughly analyzed evidence backed recommendation by the Board. 

Director Fudge stated that she agrees with Director Bagby’s comment. In the last two weeks 
she has taken the train and people are starting to ride again. She was very impressed with 
the number of people on the Ferry and the number of people that were waiting for the 
trains going North and to San Rafael. In the morning there were a lot of  school kids using 
the train again and were getting off the Hamilton Station. The Engineer/Conductors are 
excited to see so many people back. Staff needs to start the hiring process since we need 
to meet the demand to increase ridership. She is appreciative that we have the money to 
be able to do that, so I think we need to move ahead.  

Director Connolly stated that Director Bagby hit on the head, this is consistent with prior 
direction and with the listening session and it is a move in the right direction 

MOTION: Director Bagby moved to Approve a Resolution Amending the Fiscal Year 2021-
22 Budget by Budgeting $3,151,221 in projected American Rescue Plan (ARP) Funding; 
Authorize additional spending authority of $427,907;  and Authorize Position Changes as 
presented. Director Connolly second. The motion carried 10-1 (Director Colin No vote; 
Director Garbarino absent). 

10. Approve a Resolution Amending District Hiring Policy and Procedure to include Proof of
COVID-19 Vaccination as a Condition of New Employment

Human Resources Manager, Lisa Hansley stated that the item before you today is to amend
District Hiring Policy and Procedures. We have been dealing with the COVID-19 pandemic
for the last 18 months. Recently there has been a surge of new infections due to the Delta
variant. As a result, the State Public Health Officer, the Marin County Health Officer, and
the Sonoma County Health Office have issued orders requiring employees in high risk

Page 10 of 105



Page 9 of 11 

settings to provide proof of vaccination and/or submit to regular testing. 

The recent data as of August 31,2021 in Sonoma County, shows for vaccinated vs. 
unvaccinated , new cases per 100,000 residents was 30.7 among unvaccinated residents 
and 5.9 cases per day for vaccinated. On August 28, 2021, in Marin County new cases per 
100,000 residents was 36.8 among unvaccinated residents and 9.1 cases per day for 
vaccinated. We have seen our local public agencies  taking steps to amend their policy. On 
August 17, 2021, the County of Sonoma adopted a policy, that all employees show proof of 
vaccination or have weekly testing effective in September. The City of Petaluma passed 
similar policy on August  23rd and the City of Santa Rosa passed a policy on August 31st 
mandating testing or proof of vaccination effective in October. 

We are proposing to revise the District’s Hiring Policy and Procedure to require proof of 
vaccination for all new hires as part of the employee screening process. Applicants may 
request an accommodation for religious or medical reasons.  

Comments 
Director Lucan asked whether we might consider expanding it in coordination with our 
different employee groups. He would like a policy to be applicable to the entire Board of 
Directors because he thinks it starts with them. He asked what the next steps would be to 
direct staff not necessarily mandating vaccines but do regular testing. We want to make 
sure, first and foremost, our employees and  our passengers are safe. 

Ms. Hansley responded that if the Board would like staff to research that, we'd be happy to 
do so, and we will talk with the Unions as well, and come back to the Board as soon as possible 
with that policy. 

Chair Rabbitt stated that he would be in support of that as well.  He is looking to his colleague, 
Supervisor Gorin, in this case, since it was a meet and confer and he does not think it was 
with our Union groups and obviously not everyone thought it was the best idea and most did. 
Director Gorin stated it was confusing because, we had a meet and confer process with our 
employee groups to come back into the office and then COVID ramped up, and so we 
probably must meet and confer again to say wait everything is on hold. She doesn’t believe 
it was meet and confer requiring or mandating vaccinations. 

Director Rogers stated that the City of Santa Rosa Council had the same discussion last night 
and he would be supportive  f the direction that is being suggested by Director Lucan. For the 
City of Santa Rosa, it  came down to a couple of primary factors, one being the dual role that 
employees play in being Disaster Response Workers as well, helping to evacuated people in 
the event of an emergency and making sure that that is a reliable source our community to 
depend on during a disaster. This is a perspective that was discussed last night and is 
important. 

Vice Chair Pahre stated that she agrees with Directors Lucan and Rogers comments. She said 
her niece, who is a veterinarian, said that the veterinary world has been dealing with 
Coronavirus for a long time. The virus has an incredible ability to mutate and reinvent 

Page 11 of 105



Page 10 of 11 

themselves and her opinion is this going to be going on for some time. 

Chair Rabbitt stated that the action for the Board today is to adopt the policy for new 
employees and look for consensus to staff to return with a further policy for existing 
employees, including all of us on the Board of Directors. 

Public Comments 
David Schonbrunn stated that he has spent much of the last year and a half, studying the 
science of COVID and the proposed vaccine mandate is part of a COVID  control strategy that 
became obsolete a month ago. The reasons why the National Strategy had previously been 
based on universal vaccination was the idea that if everyone was vaccinated everyone would 
be safe, no one would spread the disease. Recent events have made that vision completely 
untenable, it has become clear, since the recent Massachusetts breakthroughs that 
vaccinated people also spread COVID. Their viral loads are extremely high, making them very 
efficient spreaders because the virus enters the body through the nose. However, because 
the vaccines provide immunity in the blood and not the nose these vaccines can't fight the 
virus when it's in the nose, they don't protect against catching the disease or then spreading 
it. The Brits recognize this reality, a few weeks ago, Sir, Andrew Pollard, Director of the Oxford 
vaccine group said we're in a situation here with this current variant where herd immunity is 
not a possibility, because delta still infects vaccinated individuals. We now must recognize 
that the idea that vaccines will make everyone safe is obsolete. When non-vaccinated people 
catch COVID they stay home because they feel ill. The vaccinated people that get COVID  are 
likely to spread the virus since they don’t feel ill enough to stay home.  A big study from Israel 
found that previously infected people are 13 times less likely than a vaccinated person to get 
infected with COVID. Vaccination is much less effective than natural immunity and protecting 
people from getting COVID. If an employee policy is created, it should favor hiring people that 
were previously infected with COVID, there is no legitimate basis anymore to require 
vaccination and for testing only the unvaccinated vaccinated. The current push for mandates, 
is the result of social hysteria pumped up by the environment of fear fostered by the media. 
He urged the Board not to give into that hysteria by adopting a mandate that the Board thinks 
is going to make everyone safer will encourage overconfidence and have the counter intuitive 
result of less safety. 

Eris Weaver expressed her support for the policy, she has created a very similar policy among 
her staff since they work with kids and adults. It is very difficult to stay far away when helping 
people on the bicycle.  She has the same concern that Director Lucan expressed that 
mandating for the new hires but  what about the staff that faces the public on the train 
Knowing that the employees on the train are vaccinated and protected would make her feel 
safer on the train. She encourages the Board to extend the policy for existing employees 
especially those who interact with the  public contact. She is happy to hear that it would be 
extended to the Board Members. 

Dani Sheehan said that nobody wants to see the economy and the impact that we saw over 
the last year. If the mandate is to be vaccinated to reduce the severity of the infection and 
you wear a mask, that is what needs to happen to be able to go to a restaurant, and a concert. 
She supports this policy and does not understand why people don’t want to get vaccinated. 

Page 12 of 105



Page 11 of 11 

This is the new trend in corporates, restaurants and events and are not going to be able to go 
anywhere without a Vaccination Card. 

Sheila Baker stated that she agrees with all the comments made from the previous speakers. 
She is for vaccinations and masking. She feels safer riding the train knowing that the staff is 
vaccinated and wearing their mask. The vaccinations and masks work and  keep people out 
of the hospital. 

Steve Birdlebough supports staff recommendation. SMART employees are very valuable and 
do not wat to lose them to the extent that vaccination saves lives which is important morally. 
On the question regarding spreaders, perhaps considering conducting more testing, since the 
vaccinated can still spread the disease.   

Jack Swearengen stated he has been fascinated by the efforts of SMART staff has done to 
clean the trains with the forced air movement and the COVID killing UV lights. The SMART 
train is safer than the air in your local coffee shop or anyplace else without active virus killing 
SMART has a very advanced air cleaning system, which makes the cars safer than most public 
places 

Chair Rabbitt stated that the motion to approve then it would include the direction to come 
back at a future date for the all-encompassing requirement as well. Director Lucan stated to 
move for approval the staff recommendation with policy recommendations that would come 
back that would apply to existing employees and that also includes the Board of Directors. 

Chair Rabbitt said that his first meeting this morning was with a good dear friend who is an 
elementary school principal, her husband died of COVID earlier this year. Currently, we have 
a pandemic of the unvaccinated and nearly 100% more likely to have severe symptoms, 
including death and has been politicized such a shame that this Country has been dealing with 
for quite a while. He said that he would listen to George Rutherford, MD, PhD who specializes 
in Communicable Disease and gives morning briefing every day at UCSF than someone who 
provides information from the internet. 

MOTION: Director Lucan moved to Approve a Resolution Amending District Hiring Policy and 
Procedure to include Proof of COVID-19 Vaccination as a Condition of New Employment as 
presented. Director Rogers second. The motion carried 11-0 (Director Garbarino absent). 

11. Next Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors, September 15, 2021 – 1:30 PM

12. Adjournment - Meeting adjourned at 2:44pm

Respectfully submitted,

Leticia Rosas-Mendoza
Clerk of the Board

Approved on:  ________________________

Page 13 of 105



David Rabbitt, Chair 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  

Kate Colin 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Susan Gorin 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

Eric Lucan 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

AGENDA ITEM 6a 

September 15, 2021 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

SUBJECT: Monthly Ridership Report – Aug 2021 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  Information Item 

SUMMARY: 
We are presenting the monthly ridership report for activity for the month 
of Aug 2021. This report shows trends in ridership for SMART by tracking 
Totals, Average Weekday riders, and Average Weekend/Holiday riders via 
the two methods we employ to track riders on a daily basis: Onboard 
Counts and Clipper + Mobile App paid fares. The report details bicycles 
and wheelchairs counted as well.  We have added charts and graphs of 
the information to further illustrate system trends. 

As discussed in prior presentations to Your Board, using both Onboard 
Counts and Fare collection counts of riders is necessary to track progress. 
Onboard Counts capture all riders, including the riders who are riding 
during the Free Fare Days or Free Fare Programs offered by Your Board, 
riders with passes who neglect to tag on or off, as well as categories of 
riders such as children under five years old. Therefore, Clipper + Mobile 
App paid fare reports do not capture all riders. 

This and future reports will compare the most recent month to the same 
month during the prior year, as is standard industry practice for tracking 
trends over time.  The report also shows progress so far in the Fiscal Year 
compared to the same time in the last Fiscal Year, to enable tracking of 
riders relative to budget expectations.  These reports also note relevant 
details associated with fare program discount usage and trends in riders 
bringing bicycles onboard.  As this data collection and reporting process 
evolves, we will continue to revise data discussion and presentation in the 
reports. 

Page 14 of 105



SMART Board of Directors 
September 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

SMART’s rider data for July 2021 was posted on the SMART Ridership website 
(http://sonomamarintrain.org/RidershipReports) and SMART’s detailed August 2021 data will be 
posted once validated. 

The report covers the ongoing increase of riders returning to SMART as Bay Area Counties lift their 
Shelter-In-Place restrictions and phase the opening of schools, restaurants, retail shops, offices, 
and other places of work.  

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

REVIEWED BY:   [ x ] Finance    /s/ [ x ] Counsel     /s/____ 

Very truly yours, 

      /s/ 
Joanne Parker 
Programming and Grants Manager 

Attachment(s):   August 2021 Monthly Ridership Report 

Page 15 of 105

http://sonomamarintrain.org/RidershipReports


SMART Ridership Report 
Board of Directors, 

September 15, 2021 

AUGUST 2021 (COVID-19) SMART RIDERSHIP 

REPORT

SMART’s August 2021 ridership was up 188% over August 2020, which was heavily impacted by the COVID-

19 shutdown.  Average weekday ridership has risen steadily since February 2021, with July 2021 average 

weekday ridership increasing 15% over June 2021, and August 2021 increasing 2% over July 2021. 

Throughout the region, automobile traffic levels have returned to pre-pandemic levels in some areas and 

transit agencies are seeing the first signs of ridership recovery. However, the Delta variant and ongoing 

remote-work trends due to COVID continue to have a detrimental effect on transit ridership throughout 

the Bay Area.  

As a reminder, SMART modified services in March 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, with weekend 

service annulled starting March 21 & 22, 2020, and weekday service reduced first by 4 trips (down to 34) 

on March 23, 2020, then by another 18 trips, (down to 16), on April 6, 2020.  Beginning on Monday, May 

24, 2021, SMART added service to the weekday schedule with two new morning trips and three new 

afternoon trips, resulting in 26 weekday trips.  Saturday service was also restored the last two weekends 

in May, with 3 morning and 3 afternoon round trips. Saturday ridership has been very strong, seeing 

approximately 65% of average weekday ridership levels on less than half the number of train trips. 

The tables below present data from August 2020 and 2021, year-over-year, and comparing fiscal years to 

date (July – August). 

Youth ridership saw an increase with the start of school in mid-August; a more detailed analysis will be 

available for the next ridership report.   

Page 16 of 105



SMART Ridership Report 
Board of Directors, 

September 15, 2021 

AUGUST 2021 (COVID-19) SMART RIDERSHIP 

REPORT

The following charts compare the monthly totals and average weekday ridership for June and illustrate 

monthly and average weekday ridership trends. 

62,851
65,352

62,974

57,222

64,966

58,199

71,974 71,676

33,624

4,571

5,308
8,3869,427 8,703

8,910 9,851 8,145 7,414 6,728 7,412
9,933 11,867

13,949

20,469
24,627 25,053

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

SMART FY20 - FY22 Monthly Ridership

FY20 FY21 FY22

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

SMART FY20 - FY22 Monthly Ridership 

FY20 FY21 FY22

Page 17 of 105



SMART Ridership Report 
Board of Directors, 

September 15, 2021 

AUGUST 2021 (COVID-19) SMART RIDERSHIP 

REPORT

2,409
2,584

2,701
2,542

2,765

2,391

2,847

2,981

1,385

208

265
381410 414

424 448 429
337 336 371 432

541
655

836
966 1,022

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

SMART FY20 - FY22 Average Weekday Ridership

FY20 FY21 FY22

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

SMART FY20 - FY22 Average Weekday Ridership

FY20 FY21 FY22

Page 18 of 105



David Rabbitt, Chair 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  

Melanie Bagby 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Kate Colin 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Susan Gorin 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

Eric Lucan 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

AGENDA ITEM 6b 

September 15, 2021 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

SUBJECT:  Approval of Civic Edge Consulting Contract Amendment No. 2 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Authorize the General Manager to execute Contract Amendment No. 2 
with Civic Edge Consulting in the amount of $36,925 for marketing 
support services for a contract total not-to-exceed amount of $294,975 
and extend the term of the contract through December 31, 2021. 

SUMMARY:  
In November 2020, SMART contracted with Civic Edge Consulting to 
perform day-to-day social media communications assistance to the 
SMART Communications and Marketing team, and to build a strong 
multimedia community outreach effort based on a long-term strategic 
communications goal. 

On May 19, 2021, SMART executed Amendment No. 1 of its contract with 
Civic Edge Consulting to support SMART’s outreach and marketing efforts 
to regain its pre-pandemic ridership and to attract new riders, and to 
increase overall public awareness of the benefits that SMART brings to 
the North Bay. Amendment No. 1 provided continuing services through 
September 30, 2021. 

Today we present for your approval Amendment No. 2 to the Civic Edge 
contract to continue its partnership with SMART staff in performing day-
to-day social media communications support through December 31, 
2021, and to provide support for a digital ad campaign if requested if 
SMART modifies its schedule before the end of this year. The 
Communications and Marketing team currently consist of one person and 
this contract will help extend the effectiveness of SMART’s marketing 
capabilities.  

Page 19 of 105



SMART Board of Directors 
September 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

FISCAL IMPACT: Funds for this service are included in the Fiscal Year 2021-22 Community 
Outreach budget.  

REVIEWED BY: [ x ] Finance _/s/______ [  x  ] Counsel __/s/____ 

Very truly yours, 

   /s/ 
Matt Stevens  
Acting Communications & Marketing Manager 

Attachment(s): Civic Edge Consulting Contract Amendment No. 2 

Page 20 of 105



CIVIC EDGE CONSULTING 

SECOND AMENDMENT 

MK-PS-20-001 Page 1 of 6 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 

BETWEEN THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT  

AND CIVIC EDGE CONSULTING. 

This Second Amendment dated as of September 15, 2021 (the “Second Amendment”), to 

the Agreement for Consultant Services by and between Civic Edge Consulting (hereinafter 

referred to as “CONSULTANT”) and the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (hereinafter 

referred to as “SMART”), dated as of November 1, 2020 (the “Original Agreement,” as amended 

and supplemented by the First Amendment, and now this Second Amendment, the 

“Agreement”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, CONSULTANT and SMART previously entered the Original Agreement 

on November 20, 2020 to provide public engagement and media planning services; and 

WHEREAS, SMART and CONSULTANT previously entered into one other 

Amendment to the Agreement on May 20, 2021 to increase the not-to-exceed amount, amend the 

scope of services, and extend the term of the Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, SMART desires to amend the Agreement to adjust the scope of services, 

increase the not-to-exceed amount by $36,925 for a total not-to-exceed amount of $294,975 and 

extend the term through December 31, 2021. 

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. “ARTICLE 2.  LIST OF EXHIBITS.”

The Exhibit A “Scope of Work & Timeline” is hereby amended to include the scope

of work identified in the Exhibit A “Scope of Work & Timeline” included in this

Second Amendment.

The Exhibit B “Schedule of Rates” is hereby supplemented by the Exhibit B

“Schedule of Rates” included in this Second Amendment.

2. “ARTICLE 5.  PAYMENT” Article 5 of the Agreement is amended as follows:

In addition to the not-to-exceed amount set forth in the Original Agreement and

subsequent Amendments, the contract amount shall be increased by an amount not-to-

exceed $36,925 or a total not-to-exceed amount of $294,975 or the Agreement.

Page 21 of 105



CIVIC EDGE CONSULTING 

SECOND AMENDMENT 

MK-PS-20-001 Page 2 of 6 

3. “ARTICLE 6.  TERM OF AGREEMENT” is hereby deleted and replaced in its

entirety with the following:

“ARTICLE 6.  TERM OF AGREEMENT.  The term of this Agreement shall

remain in effect through December 31, 2021, unless terminated earlier in accordance

with the provisions of Article 7.”

4. Except to the extent the Agreement is specifically amended or supplemented hereby,

the Agreement, together with all supplements, amendments and exhibits thereto is,

and shall continue to be, in full force and effect as originally executed, and nothing

contained herein shall, or shall be construed to, modify, invalidate, or otherwise affect

any provision of the Agreement.

THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

Page 22 of 105



CIVIC EDGE CONSULTING 

SECOND AMENDMENT 

MK-PS-20-001 Page 3 of 6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Second Amendment as 

of the date first set forth above. 

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 

DISTRICT 

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________ 

      Farhad Mansourian, General Manager 

CIVIC EDGE CONSULTING 

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________ 

 Lisbet Sunshine, President 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Dated: _______________   By______________________________ 

District Counsel 

Page 23 of 105



CIVIC EDGE CONSULTING 

SECOND AMENDMENT 

MK-PS-20-001 Page 4 of 6 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF WORK & TIMELINE 

This Exhibit A “Scope of Work & Timeline” supplements the existing scope of services included 

in the Original Agreement and First Amendment.  The scope of services identified below shall be 

performed during the period of October 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021. 

Civic Edge Consulting shall continue managing SMART’s social media communications and 

provide marketing of service schedule updates on an as-requested basis. 

I. Scope of Work

A. Managing Social Media Communications

a. Consultant, with SMART approval of all content prior to release, shall continue to

perform the following services under this task:

i. Develop and Manage SMART’s day-to-day social media platforms.

ii. Consultant will develop for approval and release a minimum of 2-5 posts

per week.

iii. Broadly, the goals of SMART’s social media presence will continue

building on key messages that include, but are not limited to, the

following:

1. Dispel misunderstandings and untruths about SMART.

2. Give residents of Sonoma and Marin Counties a broader

understanding of SMART benefits to the community.

3. Provide stakeholders and leaders with the information they need to

become SMART champions.

iv. Consultant will continue to collect and share meaningful data about

SMART’s operation and impact, build a sense of price and ownership

around how SMART ties together the community, and develop engaging,

sharable content that speaks to the interests of residents and stakeholders.

v. Consultant will develop SMART’s Social Media calendar

B. Marketing Service Schedule Updates (As Requested)

a. Consultant, with SMART approval of all content prior to release, shall perform

the following services on an as-requested basis:

i. Develop, Manage, and Execute Digital and Radio Ads

1. Consultant shall provide SMART with a Media Buy Plan for

review and approval.

2. Consultant shall partner with SMART regarding the target

audience for all digital advertisements.

3. Digital Ads may include:

a. Display ads

Page 24 of 105



CIVIC EDGE CONSULTING 

SECOND AMENDMENT 

MK-PS-20-001 Page 5 of 6 

b. LinkedIn

c. High Impact Mobile Scroller

d. Nextdoor

4. Radio Ads may include:

a. KSRO

II. Timelines for Deliverables

Consultant shall provide SMART with an initial detailed and comprehensive schedule for all task

work with an understanding that all final schedule dates must be approved by SMART.

Page 25 of 105



C
IV

IC
 E

D
G

E
 C

O
N

S
U

L
T

IN
G

 

S
E

C
O

N
D

 A
M

E
N

D
M

E
N

T
 

M
K

-P
S

-2
0
-0

0
1

 
P

ag
e 

6
 o

f 
6

 

E
X

H
IB

IT
 B

 

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

 O
F

 R
A

T
E

S
 

Page 26 of 105



David Rabbitt, Chair 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  

Melanie Bagby 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Kate Colin 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Susan Gorin 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

Eric Lucan 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

AGENDA ITEM 6c 

September 15, 2021 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

SUBJECT: Documentation of Salary for California Public Employees 
Retirement System 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Adopt Resolution Number 2021-23 confirming the salary of former 
General Manager, Lillian Hames, for CALPERS retirement purposes. 

SUMMARY: 
On January 16, 2008, the District entered into a contract with Lillian 
Hames to serve as the General Manager of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail 
Transit District for a period of four years. The contract set Ms. Hames’ 
base salary at $160,894 annually. On January 21, 2009, the Board met 
in closed session and approved a salary increase of 15% for the General 
Manager with an effective date of January 1, 2009. This compensation 
increase included a market adjustment of ten percent (10%) and a 
Cost-of-Living Adjustment of five percent (5%) and was reported in the 
Board Minutes for January 21, 2009. On February 18, 2009, the Board 
approved the Minutes for the Board of Directors Meeting dated 
January 21, 2009. SMART’s practice at that time was to approve the 
increase in the General Manager’s salary through public approval of 
the Board Minutes.  

The California Public Employees Retirement System (CALPERS) no 
longer accepts approval of Board of Directors Meeting Minutes as 
documentation of salary for retirement purposes. At the request of 
CALPERS, the District has been asked to formally document Ms. Hames’ 
salary for the purpose of calculating her retirement. We recommend 
the adoption of the Resolution No. 2021-23 confirming that effective 
January 1, 2009, the General Manager, Ms. Lillian Hames, was awarded 
a 15% salary increase by the Board of Directors, bringing her annual 
base salary to $185,028.10. 

Page 27 of 105



SMART Board of Director 
September 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

FISCAL IMPACT: There is no impact to the current fiscal year budget. 

REVIEWED BY:  [ X ] Finance ___/s/____  [ X ] Counsel ___/s/____ 

Very truly yours, 

    /S/      
Lisa Hansley 
Human Resources Manager 

Cc: 

Attachment(s): 
1) Resolution No. 2021-23
2) Contract Dated March 19, 2008 between Lillian Hames and SMART
3) Minutes of SMART Board Meeting January 21, 2009
4) Agenda SMART Board of Directors Meeting February 18, 2009

Page 28 of 105



Resolution No. 2021-23 
Sonoma-Marin Area Real Transit District 

September 15, 2021 

Page 1 of 2 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 
DISTRICT, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, DOCUMENTING THE SALARY OF LILLIAN HAMES, FORMER 
SMART GENERAL MANAGER, FOR CALPERS RETIREMENT PURPOSES 

WHEREAS, as part of its approval of the Annual Budget, the Board duly considers the 
annual expenditures necessary for the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District which includes 
the authorization of positions and salary ranges; and 

WHEREAS, on January 6, 2004, SMART and Lillian Hames (EMPLOYEE) entered into a 
four (4) year employment contract for her services as General Manager; and  

WHEREAS, on March 19, 2008, SMART and the EMPLOYEE entered into a new four (4) 
year employment contract, retroactive to January 1, 2008, which set the EMPLOYEE’s salary at 
$160,894.00; and 

WHEREAS, per the contract dated March 19, 2008, the Board of Directors, in its sole 
discretion may adjust the EMPLOYEE’s salary upwards by an appropriate percentage amount 
based on the EMPLOYEE’s performance; and 

WHEREAS, on January 21, 2009, the Board of Directors met in closed session and 
approved an increase of fifteen percent (15%) retroactive to January 1, 2009, bringing the 
EMPLOYEE’s annual salary to $185, 028.10; and 

WHEREAS, on February 18, 2009, the Board of Directors approved the Board Meeting 
Minutes of January 21, 2009, which reported the EMPLOYEE’s salary increase; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District that the previously approved salary increase awarded to former EMPLOYEE 
Lillian Hames effective January 1, 2009, as shown in the attached Minutes from the SMART 
Board Meeting dated January 21, 2009, be adopted for the purpose of documentation as 
required by the California Public Employees Retirement System.  

This resolution shall be and is hereby declared to be in full force and effect from the date of its 
passage. 

Page 29 of 105



Resolution No. 2021-23 
Sonoma-Marin Area Real Transit District 

September 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District held on the 15th day of September 2021, by the following vote: 

DIRECTORS: 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

________________________________ 
David Rabbitt, Chair, Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

ATTEST: 

Leticia Rosas-Mendoza, Clerk of the Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 30 of 105



Page 31 of 105



Page 32 of 105



Page 33 of 105



Page 34 of 105



Page 35 of 105



Page 36 of 105



Page 37 of 105



Page 38 of 105



Page 39 of 105



Page 40 of 105



Page 41 of 105



Page 42 of 105



Page 43 of 105



Page 44 of 105



Page 45 of 105



Page 46 of 105



Page 47 of 105



David Rabbitt, Chair 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  

Melanie Bagby 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Kate Colin 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Susan Gorin 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

Eric Lucan 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

AGENDA ITEM 7 

September 15, 2021 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

SUBJECT: Authorize the General Manager to Award a Sole Source Purchase 
Order to MAHLE Industrial Thermal Systems America, L.P. in an amount of 
$200,581.36 for Specialized Diesel Multiple Unit (“DMU”) Maintenance 
Equipment. 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Your Board-Approved Fiscal Year 2022 Budget includes purchases of 
specialized DMU parts and equipment essential for supporting 
maintenance operations on the trains.  Staff recommends authorizing the 
General Manager to award a Sole-Source Purchase Order to MAHLE 
Industrial Thermal Systems America, L.P. in an amount of $200,581.36. 

SUMMARY: 
SMART’s railcars are equipped with a rooftop cooling unit that maintains 
the temperature and air circulation inside the passenger compartments. 
Every six years, these rooftop cooling units require an overhaul service to 
be performed in order for the system to continue to function properly.  
Fourteen (14) of SMART’s railcars have been in operation since 2015 and 
require this service to be performed in the upcoming year. MAHLE 
Industrial Thermal Systems America, L.P. specifically designed these 
rooftop cooling units for SMART’s DMUs and are the sole manufacturer 
and only authorized distributor of the overhaul kits required for this 
maintenance service.  SMART’s purchasing and vehicle maintenance teams 
reviewed the pricing submitted and were able to determine that the prices 
quoted to SMART are fair and reasonable.      

Pursuant to Public Contract Code §3400, your Board may direct the 
purchase of any supply, equipment, or material upon a finding that there 
is only a single source of procurement and that the purchase is for the 
purpose of matching other products in use on a particular system or 
equipment or for replacing supplies, equipment, or material already in use. 

Page 48 of 105



SMART Board of Directors 
September 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

Staff recommends that the Board authorize the General Manager to Award a Purchase Order to 
MAHLE Industrial Thermal Systems America, L.P. in an amount of $200,581.36 for Specialized Diesel 
Multiple Unit (“DMU”) Maintenance Equipment. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Funding is included in the approved Fiscal Year 2021-22 budget. 

REVIEWED BY: [  X  ] Finance __/s/______          [  X  ] Counsel __/s/______ 

Very truly yours, 

   /s/ 

Ken Hendricks 

Procurement Manager 

Page 49 of 105



David Rabbitt, Chair 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  

Melanie Bagby 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Kate Colin 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Damon Connolly 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Susan Gorin 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

Eric Lucan 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Farhad Mansourian 

General Manager 

5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.sonomamarintrain.org 

AGENDA ITEM 8 

September 15, 2021 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

SUBJECT:  Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 2021 Title VI Program 
and Nondiscrimination Policy 

Dear Board Members: 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Approve Resolution Number 2021-22 authorizing the following: 

1) Reaffirming and updating the SMART Title VI Program and
Nondiscrimination Policy;

2) Submittal of the document to the Federal Transit Administration;
and

3) Allowing the General Manager authority to make non-policy and
administrative changes to the SMART Title VI Program as needed,
with changes reported to the Board.

SUMMARY: 
In June 2015, SMART was approved by the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) as eligible to be a direct recipient of FTA federal grant funds.  With 
the FTA Direct Grantee status comes requirements to implement a number 
of programs, policies, and procedures.  In July 2015, Your Board adopted 
SMART’s first Title VI Program and Nondiscrimination Policy, formalizing 
SMART’s compliance with federal Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 
This policy and document are presented to Your Board every three years 
for updating and reaffirmation, per FTA guidance.   

Title VI (42 U.S.C. §2000 et seq.) was enacted as part of the landmark Civil 
Rights Act of 1964.  It prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, 
and national origin in programs and activities receiving federal financial 
assistance.  In addition to Title VI, several Presidential Executive Orders 
address federal protections for those with limited English proficiency, the 
rights of women, the elderly and disabled, and environmental justice for 
minority and low-income communities.   

Page 50 of 105



SMART Board of Directors 
September 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

Other civil rights provisions prohibit discrimination on the basis of religion, family status, sexual 
orientation, or gender identity.  SMART’s Nondiscrimination Policy is generally intended to serve as 
an umbrella policy covering all persons. 

In order to comply with the FTA Title VI Circular (FTA C 4702.1B) guidelines governing grantee Title 
VI Program requirements, SMART is required to develop several brief plans and adopt several 
policies. 

Those elements of a Title VI Program include: a Nondiscrimination Policy, a Public Participation Plan, 
a Limited English Proficiency Plan, System-Wide Service and Standards Policies, and a Title VI 
Complaint and Reporting Process.  In 2015, Your Board adopted these processes, plans, policies, and 
standards that were created by SMART staff based on common industry standards applied to the 
new SMART transit system.  The FTA’s Office of Civil Rights accepted the 2015 program with 
compliments to SMART on the program’s thoroughness and completeness and notified SMART that 
our next triennial Title VI Program would be due to the FTA by October 1, 2018.  In 2018, Your Board 
approved the reaffirmation and updating of the SMART Title VI Program and Nondiscrimination 
Policy.  The FTA’s Office of Civil Rights accepted the 2018 program and notified SMART that our next 
triennial Title VI Program would be due to the FTA by October 1, 2021. 

The re-affirmed and updated triennial Title VI Program, per FTA requirements, must be approved by 
a resolution of the Board and transmitted to the FTA’s Office of Civil Rights for acceptance.  As part 
of this ongoing Title VI Program, SMART will certify compliance with Title VI on an annual basis 
directly within the FTA’s electronic grants system.  Administrative changes to this Title VI Program 
may occur if Federal requirements change or should FTA request or require any modifications after 
initial review of the program.  We will report to the Board if any such changes become necessary. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  There is no direct fiscal impact that will result from the adoption of the resolutions 
confirming the results of the monitoring program and equity analysis and approving the entire Title 
VI Program. 

REVIEWED BY:  [ X ] Finance___/s/________      [ X ] Counsel_____/s/______ 

Very truly yours, 

   /s/ 
Joanne Parker 
Programming and Grants Manager 

Attachment(s): 
1) Resolution No. 2021-22
2) Draft 2021 SMART Title VI Program and Nondiscrimination Policy

Page 51 of 105



Resolution No. 2021-22 
Sonoma-Marin Area Real Transit District 

September 15, 2021 

Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 

DISTRICT ADOPTING A TITLE VI TRIENNIAL PROGRAM AND NONDISCRIMINATION POLICY FOR 

2021-2024 

WHEREAS, Title VI (codified at 42 U.S.C. §2000d et seq.) of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 
prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, and national origin in programs and 
activities receiving federal financial assistance; and 

WHEREAS, the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) issued Title VI Circular 4702.lB, 
effective October 1, 2012, setting forth requirements and guidelines for Title VI compliance; 
and 

WHEREAS, the above-referenced Circular details required elements of the Title VI 
Program, which each recipient of FTA assistance must submit to the FTA triennially (every three 
years); and 

WHEREAS, the above-referenced Circular requires SMART’s Board of Directors to 
approve SMART's Title VI Program before it is submitted to the FTA; and 

WHEREAS, SMART, as an FTA Direct Recipient, is required to have in place a Title VI 
program that ensures that the level and quality of public transportation service is provided in a 
nondiscriminatory manner, promotes full and fair participation in public transportation decision-
making without regard to race, color or national origin, and ensures meaningful access to transit-
related programs and activities by persons with limited English proficiency; and  

WHEREAS, SMART's Title VI Program must contain numerous elements, including but not 
limited to, SMART's: 

1. Title VI Notice to the Public
2. Title VI Complaint Procedures
3. Title VI Complaint Form
4. List of Transit-Related Title VI Complaints, Investigations, and Lawsuits [SMART has

None]
5. Public Participation Plan
6. Limited English Proficiency Language Access Plan
7. Table Depicting Racial Breakdown of Non-Elected Boards and Committees
8. Evidence of the Board's Review and Approval of the Title VI Program
9. System-Wide Service Standards and Policies, Result of Service Monitoring and

evidence of the Board's Approval of Such Monitoring
10. Description of the Public Engagement Process used for Adoption of the Major Service

Change, Disparate Impact, and Disproportionate Burden Policies; and

Page 52 of 105



Resolution No. 2021-22 
Sonoma-Marin Area Real Transit District 

September 15, 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

WHEREAS, staff has developed a proposed Title VI Program (provided to the Board via 
staff report), including the above-referenced items and evidencing SMART's compliance with Title 
VI, for Board consideration and approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District adopts the SMART Title, VI Program; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors authorizes the General Manager, or a 
designee, to:  

1. Include evidence of the Board's consideration and approval of the final SMART Title VI
Program;

2. Submit the final SMART Title VI Program to the FTA;
3. Make non-policy and administrative changes to the SMART Title VI Program as needed,

with changes reported to the Board; and
4. Take any other steps necessary to give effect to this Resolution, including responding to

any follow-up inquiries from the FTA.

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District held on the 15th day of September 2021, by the following vote: 

DIRECTORS: 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

____________________________________  
David Rabbitt, Chair, Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

ATTEST: 

Leticia Rosas-Mendoza, Clerk of Board of Directors 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 53 of 105



Title VI Program and Nondiscrimination Policy

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SEPTEMBER 15, 2021 

Page 54 of 105



September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page i 

Board of Directors

David Rabbitt, Chair 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Barbara Pahre, Vice Chair 
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway 

and Transportation District 

Judy Arnold 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 

Councilmembers’ Association 

Kate Colin 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Damon Connolly 

Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 

Councilmembers’ Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and 

Transportation District 

Susan Gorin 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Dan Hillmer 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

Eric Lucan 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 

Councilmembers’ Association 

District Management

Farhad Mansourian 
General Manger 

Heather McKillop 

Chief Financial Officer 

Citizens Oversight Committee

Russ Colombo, Chair 

Steve Birdlebough 

Peter Breen 

Dennis Harter 

Patricia Kendall 

David Oster 

Steve Rabinowitsh 

Tanya Narath, alternate 

Julia Violich, alternate 

Page 55 of 105



September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page ii 

Contents 

SMART’S TITLE VI PROGRAM INTRODUCTION .............................................................................................. 1 

SMART TITLE VI/NONDISCRIMINATION POLICY............................................................................................ 4 

SMART TITLE VI/NONDISCRIMINATION COMPLAINT PROCEDURES ............................................................ 6 

LIST OF TRANSIT-RELATED TITLE VI INVESTIGATIONS, COMPLAINTS, AND LAWSUITS ................................ 9 

SMART’S PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PLAN (PPP) IMPLEMENTATION ............................................................... 9 

SMART’S LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (LEP) PLAN IMPLEMENTATION................................................. 17 

SMART’S TITLE VI SYSTEMWIDE STANDARDS AND SERVICE POLICIES ....................................................... 20 

GENERAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................................... 28 

APPENDIX A:  SAMPLE – SMART TITLE VI NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC ............................................................. 29 

APPENDIX B:  SMART CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLAINT FORM ............................................................................. 31 

APPENDIX C:  SMART DISTRICT PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PLAN (PPP).......................................................... 33 

APPENDIX D:  SMART DISTRICT LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY PLAN ...................................................... 43 

Page 56 of 105



September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page 1 

SMART’S TITLE VI PROGRAM INTRODUCTION 

SMART District and Project Background 

The SMART District was created by an act of the California Legislature with the passage of 
AB2224, also known as the Sonoma‐Marin Area Rail Transit District Act, effective January 1, 2003, 
and codified in the Public Utilities Code section 105000, et. seq. The SMART District boundaries 
include all of Marin and Sonoma Counties.   The SMART project involves rebuilding and operating 
a 70‐mile commuter rail service within the publicly owned SMART right of way through Marin 
and Sonoma counties. The rail facility is a single-track facility with passing sidings and gauntlet 
tracks at stations to accommodate freight trains along the corridor. The project includes full 
implementation of Positive Train Control. The passenger rail project will ultimately extend 70‐
miles from Cloverdale in northern Sonoma County, to Larkspur in Marin County.  A map of the 
project is shown in Figure 1. 

A locally funded 43‐mile first phase of the project was opened to public passenger service in 
Summer 2017, operating between Downtown San Rafael in the south and Sonoma County Airport 
Boulevard in the north, and served the major employment and population centers in the two 
counties.  Construction on a two-mile southern extension between Downtown San Rafael and 
Larkspur began in late 2017 and that service opened to the public in late 2019, along with 
Larkspur and Downtown Novato stations.  A northern extension to Windsor began construction 
in 2020 and is approximately 30% complete.  The extension project is currently on hold due to 
legal proceedings associated with one of the project’s funding sources.  The complete buildout 
of the commuter rail project includes sixteen stations on the 70‐mile route between the cities of 
Cloverdale and Larkspur. 

Page 57 of 105



September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page 2 

Figure 1:  SMART Project corridor. 

Page 58 of 105



September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page 3 

SMART’s Title VI Program and Nondiscrimination Policy Background 

The SMART District is committed to ensuring that no person is excluded from participation in or denied 

the benefits of its transit services on the basis of race, color or national origin, as protected by Title VI of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964.  Effective July 2015, the Sonoma‐Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART) has 

been designated a Federal Transit Administration (FTA) grantee (direct recipient of FTA grant funds). As 

an FTA direct grantee, SMART is required to have policies and processes in place pursuant to Title VI of 

the Civil Rights Act of 1964 to meet the following objectives: 

• Ensure that the level and quality of public transportation service is provided without regard to

race, color, or national origin.

• Promote full and fair participation in public transportation decision‐making without regard to

race, color, or national origin.

• Ensure meaningful access to transit‐related programs and activities by persons with limited

English proficiency.

This SMART Title VI Program and Nondiscrimination Policy is intended to demonstrate compliance with 

the transit provider reporting requirements outlined in FTA Circular 4702.1B, “Title VI Requirements and 

Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients,” effective October 1, 2012 (Federal Register 

Docket Number FTA‐2011‐0054).  As required by FTA Circular 4702.1B, this SMART program 

documentation is updated every three (3) years.  SMART is also providing information in this document 

regarding how SMART has historically acted in compliance with Title VI. 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color or national origin 

in programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance.  Presidential Executive Order 12898 

addresses environmental justice in minority and low‐income populations.  Presidential Executive Order 

13166 addresses services to those individuals with limited English proficiency.  The rights of women, the 

elderly and the disabled are protected under related authorities.  These Presidential Executive Orders and 

the related authorities fall under the umbrella of Title VI. SMART’s Title VI/Nondiscrimination Program 

provides leadership, direction, and policy to ensure compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

and related authorities.  In addition to compliance with federal civil rights requirements through its Title 

VI program, SMART’s Nondiscrimination Policy seeks to not discriminate on the grounds of religion, family 

status, sexual orientation, or gender identity.   

SMART is proud of the work it has completed to date to provide information to all members of the 

community and to ensure that social impacts to communities and people are recognized early and 

continually throughout the transportation decision‐making process.  SMART’s first Title VI Program and 

Nondiscrimination Policy was adopted by the SMART Board in 2015, with an update in 2018 and this 2021 

update.  SMART’s next Title VI program update in 2024 will have the benefit of 2020 Census data to be 

used for updated demographic market analysis.  SMART’s transition from being a planning and 

construction project into an operating rail system has been guided by this Title VI Program and 

Nondiscrimination Policy and has taken place within an umbrella of public inclusiveness 

Page 59 of 105



September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page 4 

SMART TITLE VI/NONDISCRIMINATION POLICY 

It is the policy of the SMART District, under Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and related statutes and 

regulations, that not person in the United States shall, on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, 

disability/handicap, or income status, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be 

otherwise subjected to discrimination or retaliation under any federally or non‐federally funded program 

or activity administered by SMART or its sub‐recipients.  In compliance with other civil rights provisions, 

SMART will not discriminate on the grounds of religion, family status, sexual orientation, or gender 

identity.  No person will be retaliated against for complaining of discrimination or for participating in an 

investigation of discrimination. 

SMART will ensure that its programs, policies, and activities comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 

1964, as amended, and Department of Transportation regulations.  SMART has designated a Title VI 

Coordinator in the District’s administrative offices to receive any formal Title VI complaints (via the 

process described below).  The Title VI Coordinator is the person responsible for record keeping for 

complaints related to SMART and reporting those complaints as part of any updates to this SMART Title 

VI/Nondiscrimination Program every three years.  

To effectively implement and sustain the Title VI Program and related statutes, mandatory training is 

provided to SMART staff upon hiring and periodically thereafter.  Training includes information on the 

SMART Title VI Procedures and Limited English Proficiency (LEP) responsibilities, description of language 

assistance services offered to the public, documentation of language assistance requests, and how to 

handle a potential Title VI/LEP complaint.  SMART maintains records of SMART staff training on Title VI 

Program and Nondiscrimination Policy compliance and provides training to new employees.  In FY 2019, 

SMART trained 97 existing and new staff members.  Additional employees were trained as part of the 

hiring process in FY 2020 (19 employees) and FY 2021 (17 employees). 

The public will be informed of their rights under Title VI through posting the Title VI notice on the SMART 

website (https://sonomamarintrain.org/civil-rights), on platform signage in station shelters (Figure 2), 

meeting room posters, comment cards, public meeting advertisements and handouts, newsletters, 

newspaper ads, and construction notification mailers.  Notices detailing SMART’s Title VI obligations and 

complaint procedures will be translated into languages other than English and Spanish, as needed. 

Figure 2:  SMART station platform notification. 

Page 60 of 105

https://sonomamarintrain.org/civil-rights


September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page 5 

All advertisements for public meetings will include language like the following: 

“Public participation is solicited without regard to race, color, national origin, age, sex, 

religion, disability or family status. Persons who require special accommodations under 

the Americans with Disabilities Act or person who require translation services should 

contact (name of appropriate District personnel) at (telephone number) or dial CRS 711 

at least 72 hours prior to the meeting.” 

A sample SMART Title VI Notice to the Public is included in APPENDIX A. 

Page 61 of 105



September 2021 SMART | Title VI – Page 6 

SMART TITLE VI/NONDISCRIMINATION COMPLAINT 

PROCEDURES 

SMART has established the following Title VI complaint procedures: 

1. Any person who believes that he or she, or any specific class of persons, has been discriminated against

on the basis of race, color, or national origin by SMART, may file a formal (written) or verbal/non‐written

Title VI complaint.  In addition, any individual who believes that he or she, or any specific class of

persons, has been discriminated against on the grounds of sex, age, disability, religion, family status,

sexual orientation or gender identity may also file a formal (written) or verbal/non‐written complaint.

SMART investigates complaints received no more than 180 days after the alleged incident and then will

process complaints that are complete.  The SMART Title VI Coordinator or his/her designee may extend

the time for filing or waive the time limit in the interest of justice, specifying in writing the reason for

doing so.

2. All formal Title VI complaints shall be submitted on SMART’s Civil Rights Complaint Form (included as

APPENDIX B) to:

SMART Title VI Coordinator 
SMART District – Administrative Offices 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

info@sonomamarintrain.org 
phone: (707)794‐3330 
Fax: (707) 794‐3062 

3. All verbal/non‐written complaints received by SMART shall be resolved informally when feasible.

Informal complaints can be received by phone as listed above.  However, once a complaint is written it

becomes a formal complaint. If the issue has not been satisfactorily resolved through informal means,

or if at any time the person(s) request(s) to file a formal written complaint, the SMART Title VI

Coordinator shall process the complaint in accordance with approved SMART formal complaint

procedures.

4. Written formal complaints should be verified by the complainant and may be submitted in writing via

postal service mail, email or fax to the contact identified above.  In cases where the complainant is

unable or incapable of providing a written statement, but wishes SMART to investigate alleged

discrimination, a formal verbal complaint of discrimination may be made to SMART’s Title VI

Coordinator.  The complainant will be interviewed by the officer or official authorized to received

complaints.  If necessary, SMART’s Title VI Coordinator will assist the person in converting verbal

complaints to writing.  All complaints converted into writing by SMART’s Title VI Coordinator must be

signed by the complainant or his/her representatives.  The District’s representative will assist those

with Limited English Proficiency (LEP) in filing a complaint.

5. Formal Title VI complaints submitted in writing shall be signed by the complainant and/or the

complainant’s representative.  Complaints shall set forth as fully as possible the facts and circumstances

surrounding the alleged discrimination and shall include the following information:

Page 62 of 105

mailto:info@sonomamarintrain.org


 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 7 

• Name, address, and phone number of the Complainant. 

• A written statement of the complaint, including the following details:  
o Basis of complaint (i.e., race, color, and national origin).  
o The nature of the incident that led the complainant to feel discrimination was a 

factor.  
o A detailed explanation of the alleged discriminatory act(s).  
o The date or dates on which the alleged discriminatory event or events occurred. 

• If applicable, name(s) of alleged discriminating official(s).  

• Other agencies (state, local, or federal) where the complaint is also being filed (if 
applicable). 

• Complainant’s signature and date. 

6. Once the complaint is received, within 10 working days SMART’s Title VI Coordinator will review and 

will provide the complainant with an acknowledgement letter informing her/him whether the complaint 

will be investigated by SMART or forwarded to the appropriate agency or organization for response.  In 

that acknowledgement letter, the complainant will be advised of other avenues of redress available, 

such as a formal complaint with FTA. 

7. SMART has 30 days to investigate the complaint. If more information is needed to investigate the 

complaint, SMART may contact the complainant.  In the event of such request, the complainant has 30 

days from the date of the letter to provide the requested information.  If SMART is not contacted by the 

complainant or does not receive the additional information within 30 days, SMART can administratively 

close the investigation.  An investigation can also be administratively closed if the complainant no longer 

wishes to pursue their complaint. 

8. After the Title VI Coordinator personnel reviews/investigates the complaint, she/he will prepare a draft 

written response subject to review by SMART’s General Manager and SMART’s General Counsel. SMART 

will issue a response letter to the complainant. In addition, all findings related to alleged Title VI 

violations will be forwarded to FTA for formal findings.  The FTA makes a final determination of 

“probable cause” or “no cause” and prepares a final decision letter for signature. The investigation will 

address only those issues relevant to the allegations in the complaint. If a closure letter is issued 

summarizing the allegations, stating that there was not a Title VI violation and informs the complainant 

that the case will be closed, the complainant has 10 days after the date of the closure letter to appeal 

the decision. 

9. Both formal and verbal/non‐written complaints received by SMART are documented, logged and 

tracked for investigation. Interviews will be conducted to obtain facts and evidence regarding the 

allegations in the complaint. The investigator will ask questions to elicit information about aspects of 

the case which the witness can provide firsthand information about. Interviews can be tape recorded 

with the interviewees consent. A chronological contact sheet is maintained in the case file throughout 

the investigation. The SMART Title VI Coordinator prepares a written report which includes: 

• The date of the written complaint. 

Page 63 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 8 

• The date the complaint was received by SMART. 

• The date the investigation, lawsuit, or complaint was filed. 

• The basis of the complaint (race, color, national origin, etc.). 

• A summary of the allegation(s). 

• The status of the investigation, lawsuit, or complaint. 

• An explanation of the actions SMART has taken or proposed to resolve the issue raised in the 

complaint. 

• Any Preliminary and Final FTA findings related to the investigation, lawsuit, or complaint. 

• Other agencies (state, local, or federal), if any, where the complaint has been filed. 

A copy of the complaint, together with a copy of the report of investigation, is forwarded to the FTA 

within 60 days of the date the complaint was received. 

10. If information regarding SMART Title VI Complaint procedures is needed in another language, contact 

Title VI Coordinator at 707‐794‐3062 for assistance. The SMART Title VI Complaint procedures are 

translated into Spanish and attached here as APPENDIX A. 
  

Page 64 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 9 

LIST OF TRANSIT-RELATED TITLE VI INVESTIGATIONS, 

COMPLAINTS, AND LAWSUITS 

This section complies a list of transit-related Title VI investigation(s), lawsuit(s), or complaint(s) that have 

been filed since the last report.  The list includes the date; a summary of the allegation(s); the status of 

the investigation, lawsuit, or complaint; and actions taken by the recipient in response, or final findings 

related to the investigation, lawsuit, or complaint. 

Since the last report in 2018, SMART has not had any formal investigations, formal complaints, or lawsuits 

filed regarding Title VI compliance. 

In 2019, SMART received a complaint form  a patron.  Upon further investigation, it was determined that 

the complaint was misidentified and was not a Title VI complaint.  SMART notified the individual.  No 

further Title VI communications were received on this item 

On a separate occasion, in March 2019, SMART received an email from an individual that was identified 

as potential Title VI concern. SMART sent two letters to the individual requesting additional information, 

enclosed a complaint form and offered assistance.  SMART received no response, and no formal Title VI 

complaint was filed.   

 

 

  

Page 65 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 10 

SMART’S PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PLAN (PPP) IMPLEMENTATION 

The SMART District recognizes the importance of involving the public in information exchange when 

providing transportation facilities and services for the North Bay. Therefore, it is the policy of SMART to 

promote public involvement opportunities and information exchange activities in all functional areas 

using various techniques adapted to local area conditions and project requirements. 

The SMART Public Participation Plan (PPP) is included as APPENDIX C. The SMART PPP identifies strategies 

to effectively involve the public in transportation decision‐making.  It describes a variety of methods and 

techniques to involve the public in the development of transportation plans, programs, and projects.  Title 

VI and Limited English Proficiency compliance are integrated into SMART’s public outreach techniques 

and methods. 

SMART has been proactive in its efforts to engage the public in meaningful dialogue through a variety of 

means and programs outlined in the PPP.  In addition to traditional methods, such as community events, 

presentations and meetings, SMART also utilizes social media and digital methods to engage the public.  

SMART has also made safety a top priority in all its outreach programs  

Larkspur Extension Public Involvement 

In late-2017, SMART began construction on the 2.1-mile Larkspur extension of the rail line, connecting 

downtown San Rafael with the Larkspur Ferry Terminal area.  This project was funded in part via the 

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Small Starts program and the FTA was kept apprised of public 

outreach activities related to the extension via quarterly project meetings with SMART.  SMART conducted 

the following outreach activities on the extension: 

• Created a public outreach plan in preparation for two major street closures, as well as a station 

closure requiring a bus bridge. 

• Canvassed businesses in the affected area of San Rafael in advance of street closures. 

• Distributed road closure detour maps in printed and digital formats to local businesses for 

Figure 3:  SMART safety cards. 

Page 66 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 11 

distribution to suppliers and customers. 

• Issued public notifications using advertising in print publications and radio (English and Spanish). 

• Utilized high-profile signage for pedestrians and motorists in advance and during road closures to 

provide advance notice and clear directional assistance. 

• Made onboard train announcements and onboard canvassing to connect with passengers and 

assist with questions. 

• Made real-time text alerts before and during road closures and the bud bridge operation. 

• Provided an on-site SMART outreach team for customer support during the road closures. 

 

 

  

Figure 5:  Street closure sign (Spanish) 
for Larkspur extension project. 

Figure 4:  Road closure and rail installation 
during Larkspur extension project. 

Figure 6:  SMART Bus Bridge to take people from San Rafael 
to Larkspur during the Larkspur extension project. 

Page 67 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 12 

Community Outreach 

From October 2018 through March 2020, SMART conducted 86 community outreach events at community 

fairs, schools, meetings, and presentations.  This outreach consists of safety messaging and general 

information.  SMART also connects with hard-to-reach populations, including the homeless living along 

the SMART corridor.   

SMART partners with Operation Lifesaver California, promoting messages that encourage safe behavior 

near tracks and trains (example shown in Figure 3).  These important safety messages are also delivered 

to students through SMART safety presentations at our local schools. From October 2018 through March 

2020, 2,942 elementary and middle-school students attended SMART’s rail safety presentations.   

  

Figure 7:  SMART outreach, May 2019.  Cinco de Mayo festival, Santa Rosa, CA. 

Page 68 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 13 

Community Outreach During the COVID-19 Pandemic 

Beginning in March of 2020, SMART’s community outreach activities significantly constrained by the 

COVID-19 pandemic and the accompanying shelter-in-place orders.  During the pandemic, all outreach 

activities were web-based and primarily consisted of social media posts. 

SMART created a dedicated COVID-19 section accessible from the SMART website homepage.  This section 

detailed information about enhanced safety and hygiene protocols.  The section also informed riders 

about the free rides to vaccinations sites offered by SMART. 

 

 

 

Figure 8:   COVID-19 safety information in English and Spanish. 

Figure 9:  Enhanced safety and hygiene protocols onboard SMART trains. 

Page 69 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 14 

  

Figure 10:  Ventilation upgrades to SMART trains, including MERV-13 filters and UV sterilizers 

Page 70 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 15 

In early 2021, SMART collaborated with a consultant to provide more communication on social media and 

in the public about the benefits of SMART.   The consultant products included a video to highlight SMART’s 

benefit in the region and the role SMART can play as Marin and Sonoma counties reopen for more 

recreational activities and residents return to transportation.   The “Community Ties” campaign launched 

in March 2021 on SMART’s social media platforms in English and Spanish (Community Ties Spanish Video 

Link) and with the airing of radio ads promoting SMART’s cleaning protocols and reliable transportation 

system.  

Welcome Back Campaign 

In May 2021, SMART’s Community Outreach and Marketing team conducted community surveys that 

informed a Welcome Back campaign, a 10-point plan to welcome our riders back on board as the COVID-

19 pandemic entered the next phase of post-vaccination availability. SMART initiated a robust social 

media campaign coupled with an extended approach to increase engagement and ridership throughout 

Summer 2021.  The 10-point plan included proposals to: 

• Increase weekday train service 

• Resume Saturday train service 

• Introduce promotional discount fares 

• COVID-19 preventative measures 

• Highlight mask requirements, as directed by TSA guidelines 

• Contactless payment 

• Maintain a healthy workforce 

• Safety signage at SMART facilities 

• Community Outreach and Marketing 

• Customer Service 
 

SMART’s Advisory Body Composition 

The SMART Board approved a “Measure Q Expenditure Plan” in July 2008 as part of the ¼ cent sales tax 

ballot measure that was put before the voters. That sales tax measure was approved by nearly 70% of the 

voters in November 2008. The Measure Q Expenditure Plan included as a guideline for implementation of 

the plan that “A Citizens Oversight Committee will be established by the SMART Board to provide input 

and review on the Strategic Plan and subsequent updates”.  The Strategic Plan is a document updated 

every five years, per Measure Q Expenditure Plan requirements. SMART’s Citizens Oversight Committee 

(COC) is comprised of seven members and two alternates.  Membership of the COC is determined by the 

Board and the Board subsequently makes appointments.  Openings are advertised in a paper with local 

circulation and on the SMART website. Applicants are invited to present to the Board in advance of 

appointment. 

The current COC member roster has been in effect from 2009‐2021: Russ Colombo (Chair), Steve 

Birdlebough, Peter Breen, Dennis Harter, Patricia Kendall, David Oster, Steve Rabinowitsh, Tanya Narath 

(alternate) Julia Violich (alternate).  The demographic composition of the committee is shown in Table 1.  

A revised committee mission and bylaws for the committee, including member representation, 

appointment process and service terms, may be developed and adopted by the Board of Directors prior 

to SMART’s next Title VI Program Update in 2024.  

Page 71 of 105

https://youtu.be/4TK-TYZHmso
https://youtu.be/4TK-TYZHmso


 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 16 

The SMART District boundaries include all of Marin and Sonoma Counties. As a fixed route system, SMART 

is expected to draw passengers from throughout the two counties, and as such the two combined counties 

constitute the District and SMART’s Service Area. 

 

Table 2:  Minority Representation on the Citizens Advisory Committee. 

 Citizens 
Advisory 

Committee 

Citizens Advisory 
Committee with 

Alternates 

SMART District 
(Sonoma & Marin 

Counties) 

Total 7 100% 9 100% 759,715 100% 

Male 6 86% 6 67% 371,001 48.8% 

Female 1 14% 3 33% 388,714 51.2% 

American Indian and Alaska Native 0 0% 0 0% 7,051 0.9% 

Asian 0 0% 0 0% 51,631 6.8% 

Black or African American 0 0% 0 0% 12,155 1.6% 

Native Hawaiian or other Pacific 
Islander 

 

0 
 

0% 
 

0 
 

0% 
 

5,707 
 

0.8% 

Some Other Race alone or in 
combination with one or more 

other races 

 
0 

 
0% 

 
0 

 
0% 

 
95,712 

 
12.6% 

Minority Persons (sum of above) ‐ 0% ‐ 0% 172,256 22.7% 

Hispanic or Latino 0 0% 0 0% 175,096 23.0% 

White alone, not Hispanic or Latino 7 100% 9 100% 500,982 65.9% 

Source:  American Community Survey (ACS) 2019 5-Year Estimates Data Profiles for Sonoma and Marin Counties. 

  

Page 72 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 17 

SMART’S LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (LEP) PLAN 

IMPLEMENTATION 

Consistent with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and other Federal regulations, SMART has and will 

continue to take reasonable steps to ensure meaningful access to benefits, services, information and 

other important portions of SMART’s program and activities for individuals who are limited‐English 

proficient (LEP). The current SMART LEP Plan, including the required “Four Factor Analysis”, is included as 

APPENDIX D. 

The SMART LEP Plan shows that the most prevalent linguistically isolated population in the SMART District 

speaks Spanish. SMART is committed to providing meaningful access and has historically translated 

outreach materials into Spanish for distribution. Examples of those materials include construction notice 

mailers, construction notice door hangars, and rail safety education materials for school aged children are 

shown in Figures 6‐8. SMART has also conducted bilingual telephone surveys, targeted community 

outreach events, and implemented several language assistance measures and policies identified in the 

attached LEP.  Additionally, Title VI Program and language access training is provided to SMART 

administrative and operations staff upon hire and periodically thereafter. 

Figure 11:  Sample SMART construction notice, Spanish version. 

Page 73 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 18 

  

Figure 12:  Sample SMART construction notice door hanger, Spanish version. 

Page 74 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 19 

  

Figure 13:  SMART rail safety training in schools, Spanish version. 
(Booklet cover) 

Page 75 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 20 

SMART’S TITLE VI SYSTEMWIDE STANDARDS AND SERVICE 

POLICIES 

System‐Wide Service Standards 

SMART is required to set quantitative system‐wide service standards for several indicators to guard 

against discriminatory service designs or operations decisions. All service standards will be set to ensure 

equitable service across all jurisdictions and populations served by the SMART system. 

A key characteristic of the SMART rail service is that it is a fixed guideway rail system with no variability in 

route options ‐ there is only one route. Further, SMART is primarily a single‐track rail line, with siding areas 

for passing trains. Single‐track rail systems can be subject to operational limitations. SMART shares its 

track with a short haul freight operator, as required by the legislation governing SMART, creating further 

passenger operational limitations. 

SMART’s current rail car fleet consists of 18 rail cars.  The train sets are currently comprised of an “A” and 

“B” cars combined into 2 and 3-car train sets.  Platform lengths are designed for up to three car trains and 

provide for level boarding.  SMART rail vehicles are divided into two age categories:  The original cars and 

the additional cars.  Fourteen of the cars are part of the original order.  These are the same age and 

condition, having been manufactured and delivered between April 2015 and December 2015.  Four 

additional cars were manufactured for delivery in late 2018 with deployment in Fall of 2019.  Since the 

start of passenger revenue service in August 2017, all stations receive the same level of rail service, with 

all trains consisting of two and three-car train sets and all trains stopping at all stations the same number 

of times per day and at the same headways as at each other station.  SMART’s partially restored post-

COVID pandemic weekday schedule has 13 southbound and 13 northbound trains, with service hours from 

5:02 a.m. to 10:37 p.m.  SMART’s partially restored weekend schedule currently has only Saturday service, 

with 6-southbound and 6-northbound trains providing service from 7:35 a.m. to 8:51 p.m.  SMART is 

continuing efforts to recruit sufficient staff to restore additional service that was reduced during the 

COVD-19 pandemic.   

  

Page 76 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 21 

  

Figure 14:  SMART weekday, weekend, and holiday schedule. 

Page 77 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 22 

Vehicle Load 

SMART’s Vehicle Load Standard will be the same for peak and off‐peak services and may be revised as 

more is learned for various operating scenarios.  Based on initial actual revenue operating experiences, 

the average of all loads during the peak operating period should not exceed the train’s anticipated 

achievable capacities, which are 158 persons each for both A and B car types.  SMART’s vehicle load 

standard for initial years of service will target the anticipated maximum load factor of the fleet, or 2.  As 

fleet capacity allows, SMART may mix “A” and “B” car types into 2- and 3-car train sets to achieve 

operational efficiencies. 

A two‐car train set (A + B) is estimated to accommodate 158 seated passengers per train set, and up to 

316 passengers with standees. All SMART station platforms are constructed to handle up to three car 

lengths.  A full three car train has an anticipated capacity of 474 people. 

SMART may seek to maximize operational efficiencies and adjust vehicle load standards, though options 

to do so will be limited due to the single-track rail environment and limited fleet capacity.  During the 

COVID-19 pandemic, SMART enforced social distancing protocols for the safety of passengers and 

workers. 

Table 3:  Vehicle load policy. 

 
Car 
Type 

 
Seated 
Capacity 

 
Standing 
Capacity 

 
Total 
Capacity 

Maximum 
Load 
Factor 

A 79 79 158 2.0 

B 79 79 158 2.0 

 

Vehicle Headway 

Service will operate on the mainline trunk line every 30-210 minutes in each direction during the weekday 

peak periods and throughout the day, five days a week.  Vehicle Headway Standards for off‐peak weekend 

service will be every 120 minutes in each direction.  This is the current service due to COVID-19 pandemic 

service reductions. 

On‐time Performance 

A train is determined to be on‐time if it reaches its destination within five minutes of the published 

schedule time.  SMART does not permit its trains to depart early. It is SMART’s goal to have 95 percent of 

trains meet these on‐time performance criteria.  Since the inception of service in 2017, SMART has been 

measuring on-time performance based on arrival at the end destination of the trip. Using this method, 

SMART’s on-time performance from start of service on August 25, 2017 through June 30, 2021, is 95%.  

The data is shown by fiscal year below.  

Page 78 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 23 

Table 4:  Fiscal Year On-time Performance FY18-FY21. 

 

Fiscal Year 

Average On-time 

Performance 

FY18 98% 

FY19 97% 

FY20 89% 

FY21 98% 

 

Starting with July 2021, SMART tracks on-time performance on a station-by-station basis, following 

industry standards. This change will support the inclusion of on-time performance in SMART’s upcoming 

Performance Metric reporting to the SMART Board and public, to begin in the second half of Fiscal Year 

2022 (FY22). This methodology will be used in subsequent Title VI reports. The on-time performance data 

by month for FY22 to date is shown in the table below. 

Table 5:  FY22 On-time Performance to Date 

 

Month 

Average On-time 

Performance 

July 2022 97% 

August 2022 97% 

 

Service Availability 

Service availability is described by the October 2012 FTA Circular 4702.1B: 

Service availability is a general measure of the distribution of routes within a transit 

provider’s service area…A standard might also indicate the maximum distance 

between stops or stations…Commuter rail service or passenger ferry service availability 

standards might include a threshold of residents within a certain driving distance as 

well as within walking distance of the stations or access to the terminal. 

SMART operates a fixed guideway system.  According to the 2010 Census, 72% of all the residents in Marin 

and Sonoma Counties (the SMART District) are within 3-miles of a SMART station. In addition, 70% of all 

jobs are within 3-miles of a SMART station (LEHD 2018). SMART coordinates with local jurisdictions to 

encourage land use policies that encourage jobs and housing near the SMART stations. 

 

  

Page 79 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 24 

Table 5:  Service availability policy. 

 Population Housing Units Jobs 

SMART District 736,287 315,786 330,289 

Stations ‐ 3 miles 532,111 211,892 232,050 

Stations ‐ 1 mile 223,669 90,703 106,212 

Stations ‐ 0.5 miles 90,332 38,015 40,740 

 percent 

SMART District 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Stations ‐ 3 miles 72.3% 67.1% 70.3% 

Stations ‐ 1 mile 30.4% 28.7% 32.2% 

Stations ‐ 0.5 miles 12.3% 12.0% 12.3% 

Source: Census 2010 Census 2010 LEHD 2018 

 

System‐Wide Service Policies 

SMART is required to adopt system‐wide service policies necessary to guard against service design and 

operational policies that may have disparate impacts. System‐wide policies differ from service standards 

in that they are not necessarily based on a quantitative threshold. All service policies will provide equitable 

service across all jurisdictions and populations served by the SMART system. All policies are subject to 

approval by the SMART Board. 

Vehicle Assignment 

Vehicle age and type are similar for all the vehicles in the fleet.  SMART operates two‐car train sets 

comprised of an “A” car and a “B” car.  SMART can deploy the “A” and “B” cars into two- and three-car 

train set configurations depending on rail car availability and passenger demand.  All vehicles are assigned 

to the same route between Airport Boulevard and Larkspur. All rail cars comply with Americans with 

Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements, including wheelchair accessible spaces and level platform boarding. 

Transit Amenities 

According to the October 2012 FTA Circular 4702.1B: 

Page 80 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 25 

Transit amenities refer to items of comfort, convenience, and safety that are available 

to the general riding public. Fixed route transit providers must set a policy to ensure 

equitable distribution of transit amenities across the system. Transit providers may 

have different policies for the different modes of service that they provide. Policies in 

this area address how these amenities are distributed within a transit system, and the 

manner of their distribution determines whether transit users have equal access to 

these amenities. This subparagraph is not intended to impact funding decisions for 

transit amenities. Rather, this subparagraph applies after a transit provider has 

decided to fund an amenity. 

SMART provides a variety of amenities at stations to attract and retain customers. These packages of 

station amenities are uniform throughout the SMART system. Generally, SMART has two types of station 

environments, Downtown and Other, with downtown stations located in higher density, mixed land use 

neighborhoods. Examples of these Downtown stations are Downtown San Rafael and Santa Rosa’s 

Railroad Square. Station platforms themselves are uniformly designed, with platform height designed to 

allow for level boarding onto the rail vehicles and stations are provided a basic amenities package 

described below. As SMART’s passenger revenue service continues to mature from the 10-station 2017 

launch and the 2-station addition to the system in 2019, ridership performance will be monitored with 

particular attention given to whether station types are correctly categorized and whether there may be a 

need to differentiate station amenities between station types. 

The basic set of amenities exists at most stations and includes bike racks, shelters/canopies, benches, and 

trash cans.   In addition, SMART has installed a minimum of one block of four electronic bicycle lockers at 

each SMART station, either on SMART property or adjacent to the station on property owned by others.  

SMART conducted a State-funded bicycle parking plan to attempt to determine bicycle parking demand 

in advance of the actual start of SMART commuter rail system.  Usage of these lockers at each SMART 

station is monitored to determine whether additional electronic lockers or other more intensive bicycle 

parking equipment is warranted. 

Sonoma County Transportation Authority and the Transportation Authority of Marin are currently piloting 

a bikeshare program in the two counties. Bikeshare hubs will be located at or near nine of the twelve 

SMART stations, based on preferences expressed by local City staff and bicycle advocacy groups. SMART 

is not a sponsor of the program and will not be managing the implementation. A successful pilot may lead 

to expansion at more SMART stations in the future. 

In general, station amenities have been designed with local jurisdiction input and are uniform except for 

minor features (such as color) as requested and/or funded by local jurisdictions. SMART’s fare collection 

system is the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) regional Clipper® smart card and mobile 

app fare system supplemented with a SMART-specific mobile payment system.  Clipper® validation 

equipment and ticket vending machines are located at SMART stations as procured and installed by the 

regional Clipper® program contractor with one machine per station platform. SMART provides standard 

customer information across each of the stations and will coordinate with regional MTC wayfinding and 

signage standards in further implementation of a station customer information program. These 

standardized station amenities described above are included in the definition of basic amenities. 

Page 81 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 26 

Amenities Policy 

Installation of transit amenities along SMART’s rail route is based on the needs of each individual station, 

with standardized amenities described above assembled into a Basic Amenities package.  All station  

amenities are distributed equally among stations and all on‐board amenities are distributed equally 

among all vehicles.   Table 4 graphically describes this amenities policy. 

 

Table 6:  Amenities policy. 

Station Type Level Amenities 

Downtown Level 1 Basic amenities 

Other Level 2 Basic amenities 

 

Requirement to Evaluate Service and Fare Changes 

Because SMART does not operate 50 or more fixed route vehicles in peak service, it is not required to 

evaluate significant system‐wide service and fare changes to determine whether those changes will have 

a discriminatory impact. 

While not required of SMART, SMART is aware of FTA Title VI requirements and endeavors to bear in mind 

the intent of the regulation to not create disparate impacts on the basis of race, color or national origin 

when updating this Title VI Program and when evaluating fare and service policies and practices.  In 2015 

and 2016 SMART conferred with FTA staff to ensure that the public process undertaken for the adoption 

of the District’s first fare program would be sufficient to meet Title VI guidelines.  That fare program 

included the structure and pricing of the future system expansions, including the Larkspur/Downtown 

Novato expansion of 2019, the current Windsor and other future northern extensions, and the future infill 

station in Petaluma. 

In the past two years, SMART has made two modifications to the SMART fare program.  The first is 

participation in the regional pilot Means Base Fare Program, or Clipper START, and the second a one-year 

post-pandemic pilot fare incentive to encourage people to try riding SMART.  

The Clipper START program allows adults ages 19-64 living in the Bay Area who have a household income 

of 200% or less of the federal poverty level to receive single ride discounts of 20% or 50% on 21 transit 

operators.  The SMART Board adopted a pilot Low Income fare discount of 50% and the Metropolitan 

Transportation Commission, the regional manager of the Clipper system, implemented Clipper START on 

SMART at the end of November 2020.  Boardings having increased from 4 per month to 73 in July; 

however, START program usage remains at less than 1% of total boardings.  To create a public incentive 

to ride SMART as the COVID-19 pandemic continues, SMART implemented a pilot fare reduction program.  

In May 2021, SMART kicked off its Welcome Back campaign with reduced fares available on the SMART e-

Tickets app.  In September 2021, the reduced fares became available on Clipper, the regional payment 

system.  These promotional fares are set to run through fiscal year 2022 and offer riders over 40% off the 

fare price. 

Page 82 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 27 

Requirement to Monitor Transit Service 

Because SMART does not operate 50 or more fixed route vehicles in peak service, it is not required to 

monitor the transit service provided throughout SMART’s service area.  SMART does endeavor, however, 

to undertake periodic system‐wide service monitoring activities to compare the level and quality of service 

provided relative to their system‐wide service standards and service policies (i.e., vehicle load, vehicle 

assignment, transit amenities, etc.). In May 2021, the SMART Board approved seven performance 

measures to help SMART analyze efficiency and effectiveness and guide future policy setting and 

prioritization of investments. 

Initial Metrics (from National Transit Database): 

1. Operating Cost per Vehicle Revenue Mile 
2. Operating Cost per Passenger Mile 
3. Passenger Miles per Vehicle Revenue Mile 
4. Average Fare 

 

Additional User-Focused Metrics: 

5. On-Time Performance 
6. Customer Experience 
7. Pathway Usage 

 

Reporting on these metrics to the SMART Board will begin in Fiscal Year 2021/22. 

  

Page 83 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 28 

GENERAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

SMART’s Title VI Program and Nondiscrimination Policy addresses FTA’s general reporting requirements 

for SMART programs, policies, and activities to document compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, the United States Department of Transportation (DOT) implementing regulations in 49 CFR 21 

(Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation). 

Annual Certifications and Assurances 

In accordance with 49 CFR Section 21.7(a), SMART will provide the required annual Title VI Certifications 

and Assurances by submitting an electronic copy of the Pinned Certifications and Assurances from FTA’s 

electronic grants management system. 

SMART Title VI/Nondiscrimination Program Notice to the Public 

The SMART Title VI/Nondiscrimination Program Notice to the Public is included as APPENDIX A. Both 

English and Spanish versions are shown, and the Notice is posted at the SMART District offices, on SMART 

Station platforms, and on the SMART website. 

Records Management 

The SMART Title VI Coordinator maintains a log of complaints and consolidates the district logs for 

reporting purposes. The complaint logs maintain at a minimum the complainant’s name, contact 

information, nature of complaint and the disposition of the complaint. SMART maintains a list of active 

investigations, lawsuits, and/or complaints that allege Title VI discrimination. This list includes the date of 

the investigation, or the date the lawsuit or complaint was filed; a summary of the allegation(s); the status 

of the investigation, lawsuit, or complaint; and actions taken by the SMART in response to the 

investigation, lawsuit, or complaint. These records are reported in updates on SMART’s Title VI Program 

every three years and are made available to the FTA as requested. 

SMART Title VI/Nondiscrimination Program Updates 

SMART updates the documentation of the SMART Title VI/Nondiscrimination Program every three years 

by resolution of the SMART Board. If any changes to regulation or SMART operational issues arise between 

document updates that require modifications to the document or program, administrative changes will 

be allowed. 

 

Page 84 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 29 

APPENDIX A:  SAMPLE – SMART TITLE VI NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

The Sonoma‐Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART) is committed to ensuring that no person is excluded 

from participation in or denied the benefits of its transit services on the basis of race, color or national 

origin, as protected by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 

How do I file a Title VI Complaint? 

If you believe you have been subjected to discrimination under Title VI, you may file a written complaint 

with SMART. 

To file a formal Title VI complaint, you or your representative must submit a signed and SMART Civil Rights 

Complaint Form within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the last date of alleged discrimination. 

Download the Complaint Form here:  

https://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Documents/ADA%20Title%20VI%20CivilRights_Compl

aintForm-2017.pdf. 

Alternatively, you can request a copy of the Complaint Form at 707‐794‐3330 or TDD711. 

If information is needed in another language, contact SMART at 707‐794‐3330. 

Si se necesita información en otro idioma, póngase en contacto con SMART al 707‐794‐3330. 

Si usted cree que ha recibido un trato discriminatorio por SMART sobre la base de su raza, color u origen 

nacional, usted tiene el derecho de presentar una queja con el Oficial de Derechos Civiles. La queja debe 

ser presentada a más tardar 180 días calendario después del supuesto incidente discriminatorio alegado. 

Este documento y el formulario de queja del Título VI están disponibles aquí:  

https://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Documents/ADA%20Title%20VI%20CivilRights_Compl

aintForm-2017.pdf. 

Los documentos que describen la Declaración de la Política conforme al Título VI y los Procedimientos de 

Queja de SMART se pueden traducir al español bajo solicitud. 

Por favor llame al (707)794‐3330 o TDD 711. 

Upon request, the Title VI Coordinator will assist with writing a complaint if the complainant is unable to 

do so, including any language assistance required. 

The complaint should include the following information: 

• Your name, address, and how to contact you (i.e., telephone number, email address, etc.). 

• How, when, where, and why you believe you were discriminated against. Include the location, 

names and contact information of any witnesses. 

Page 85 of 105

https://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Documents/ADA%20Title%20VI%20CivilRights_ComplaintForm-2017.pdf
https://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Documents/ADA%20Title%20VI%20CivilRights_ComplaintForm-2017.pdf
https://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Documents/ADA%20Title%20VI%20CivilRights_ComplaintForm-2017.pdf
https://sonomamarintrain.org/sites/default/files/Documents/ADA%20Title%20VI%20CivilRights_ComplaintForm-2017.pdf


 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 30 

The complaint may be filed in writing with SMART as follows: 

SMART ‐ Attn: Title VI Coordinator  
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

 Complainants may also use the following to initiate the filing of a written complaint: 

By e‐mail to:  info@sonomamarintrain.org with Title VI Complaint in the subject line. 

By fax:  Attn: SMART Title VI Coordinator ‐ (707) 794‐3037 

What happens to my complaint after it is submitted to SMART? 

All complaints alleging discrimination based on race, color or national origin in a service or benefit 

provided by SMART will be recorded in the Title VI Database and electronically assigned an ID number by 

the Title VI Coordinator. 

The SMART Title VI Coordinator reviews all customer feedback and research complaints alleging 

discrimination based on race, color or national origin in a service or benefit. Upon request, the SMART 

Title VI Coordinator will provide appropriate assistance to complainants, including people with disabilities, 

or who are limited in the ability to communicate in English in accordance with SMART’s Limited English 

Proficiency Plan (ATTACHMENT D of SMART’s TITLE VI PROGRAM). 

The SMART Title VI Coordinator will review and provide complainant with an acknowledgement letter of 

receipt of the complaint within 10 working days. Generally SMART will investigate the complaint and 

prepare a draft written response subject to review by the SMART General Manager and SMART General 

Counsel within 30 days. 

In instances where additional information is needed for assessment or investigation of the complaint, the 

SMART Title VI Coordinator will attempt to contact the complainant in writing. Failure to provide the 

requested additional information within 30 days of the letter date may result in the administrative closure 

of the complaint. More details on the process for Title VI complaints can be found in SMART’s Title VI 

Program document. 

How will I be notified of the outcome of my complaint? 

The SMART staff will send a final written response to the complainant and advise the complainant of his 

or her right to file a complaint externally. SMART will use its best efforts to respond to Title VI complaints 

within 60 working days of its receipt of such complaints. 

In addition to the complaint process at SMART, individuals and organizations may also file a complaint by 

completing a Federal Transit Administration Office of Civil Rights Title VI complaint form 

(https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/civil-rights-ada/file-complaint-fta). 

Complaints should be signed and include contact information and should be sent to SMART and to: 

Federal Transit Administration 

Office of Civil Rights Attention: Complaint Team 

East Building, 5th Floor - TCR 1200 

New Jersey Ave, SE  

Washington, DC 20590 

Page 86 of 105

mailto:info@sonomamarintrain.org
https://www.transit.dot.gov/regulations-and-guidance/civil-rights-ada/file-complaint-fta


 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 31 

APPENDIX B:  SMART CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLAINT FORM 

  

Page 87 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 32 

  

Page 88 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 33 

APPENDIX C:  SMART DISTRICT PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PLAN 

(PPP) 

Inclusive Public Involvement 

SMART is required to engage in community outreach consistent with the Department of Transportation 

Order on Environmental Justice and should seek out and consider the viewpoints of minority and low‐

income populations while conducting public outreach and involvement activities. SMART’s public 

participation strategy will endeavor to offer early and continuous opportunities for the public to be 

involved in key transportation decisions. 

SMART recognizes that the FTA has given recipients wide latitude to determine when, how and how often 

specific public involvement measures should take place and what measures are most appropriate. To 

date, SMART has engaged the public throughout its planning and implementation decision‐making 

process. Between 2003 and 2021, the following key milestone points included extensive public 

participation: 

• Rail vehicle selection and development 

• Certification of Environmental (CEQA) Documents 

• Development of Initial Operating Segment (IOS) 

• Station area planning and design workshops 

• Regional and County‐level transportation planning and transit coordination activities at the 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission, Sonoma County Transportation Authority, 

Transportation Authority of Marin, etc. 

• COVID-19 pandemic survey. 

• Larkspur extension outreach. 

• Healthy Transit Plan and All Aboard Bay Area Transit 

• Online updates for Windsor extension project. 

In addition to these milestone points in the SMART project, SMART provided regular opportunities for the 

public to learn about and participate in the development of the creation of the SMART Commuter Rail and 

Pathway project: 

• Monthly and biweekly meetings of the SMART Board of Directors ‐ These meetings provide regular 

opportunities for the public to participate in policy formation and issues identification and follow 

California Brown Act public notification requirements. 

• Construction information: 

o Construction Outreach follows a SMART Construction Notification Protocol 

(ATTACHMENT A to this PPP), including distribution of notices and door hangars. 

o Construction information meetings (2012‐2015) that provide information to local 

neighborhoods prior to the beginning of construction activities. 

o Construction information hot‐line (855‐312‐7444) for people to call with questions or 

Page 89 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 34 

comments related to construction activities. 

• General community presentations ‐ SMART Community Education and Outreach delivers on 

average 2‐3 presentations per month to a diverse range of community and educational groups 

including: 

o Civic clubs (e.g., Rotary Club, Kiwanis Club, Active 20/30 Club) 

o Community interest groups (e.g., Municipal Chambers of Commerce, Latino Chambers of 

Commerce, Latino advocacy groups and retired persons clubs) 

o Religious organization (e.g., church and synagogue groups) 

o School organizations (classes and public events, with emphasis on Rail Safety Education) 

– ATTACHMENT B to this PPP shows education materials developed by SMART, in 

partnership with Operation Lifesaver (Spanish version shown). 

• Participation in other community‐based organization events ‐ SMART has over time endeavored to 

build relationships with other community‐based organizations, such as those listed below, to 

support effective outreach and participation: 

o Los Cien (Sonoma County Latino civic leadership group) 

o Transportation Equity Alliance of Marin 

o Marin Grassroots 

o Marin American Indian Alliance 

o Sonoma County Human Development Commission 

• Providing staffed information booths at County Fairs, Community Festivals, other Community 

Events – SMART participates in numerous events by providing a staffed booth and distributing 

information in both English and Spanish at these events.  ATTACHMENT C to this PPP shows the 

types of general SMART information pamphlets provided in English and Spanish at these events 

and others. 

• Customer Service Call Centers ‐ With the start of passenger services, SMART engaged Golden Gate 

Transit in a contractual relationship to provide customer service center functions (call center, in 

person customer service center at San Rafael/Bettini Transit Center, Lost and Found Service).  This 

customer service contractual relationship has since changed, and SMART is now managing 

customer service functions with SMART staff. Customers can reach bilingual SMART Customer 

Service by calling SMART directly or through the regional 511 transit information call line.   In 

addition, as the sole fare media for SMART, the regional Clipper® call center is also available for 

Clipper technical support for SMART customers.  SMART also maintains bilingual in-person and 

telephone customer service functions for SMART information and Clipper sales at the SMART 

administrative offices in Petaluma. 

• Website and Social Media ‐ Persons interested in the SMART project can receive updates and sent 

comments via the SMART website (www.sonomamarintrain.org), as well as email 

(info@sonomamarintrain.org). SMART utilizes social media services, such as through Facebook 

(http://www.facebook.com/sonomamarintrain) and Twitter (http://twitter.com/smarttrain) for 

general information dissemination. Comments in all forums are encouraged and are responded 

to in a timely fashion. 

Page 90 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 35 

Native American Tribes 

SMART has worked closely with local Native American Indian tribes, primarily the Federated Indians of 

Graton Rancheria, in the process of environmental and archeological monitoring of SMART track and 

bridge reconstruction.  

Public Participation Techniques 

SMART utilizes a variety of public participation methodologies to inform key decisions and policy 

formation including: 

• SMART Board of Directors meetings, public meetings, and workshops Polls/Surveys 

• Targeted Mailing/Flyers Utilizing Local Media 

• Social Media/E‐Newsletters 

Providing Meaningful Access to Limited English Proficient (LEP) Individuals 

SMART has taken take responsible steps to ensure meaningful access to the benefits, services, 

information, and other important portions of SMART’s programs and activities for individuals who are 

Limited English Proficient (LEP). SMART has developed a LEP Plan (APPENDIX D to this SMART Title 

VI/Nondiscrimination Program) which focuses on areas to provide meaningful access for individuals who 

are Limited English Proficient to the same public transit services provided to all members of the transit 

service area. 

Safe Harbor Analysis 

SMART has found through census data and demographic studies that the dominant group of Marin and 

Sonoma County residents and employees with limited English proficiency is composed of those who 

primarily speak Spanish. Because of the concentrations of LEP Spanish speakers, SMART has employed 

several methods to inform the public of critical elements related to the project, including Spanish language 

construction flyers distributed door‐to‐door in neighborhoods and Spanish language rail safety materials 

targeted to school age children. SMART will continue to use reasonably available methods to inform the 

public critical information related to the project in a timely manner.  Some of those methods include but 

are not limited to the following:trtrainin 

• News releases: 

o SMART Train Rider’s Guide 

o Distribution of “take one” notices distributed on the trains and shuttles 

o Passenger electronic newsletters 

o Ads in local newspapers within the service area (English and Spanish) Community 

meetings/workshops 

o Information booths at County Fairs and other Community Events and Festivals Discussion 

of changes with the Measure Q Citizen Oversight Committee Information posted on the 

SMART website 

o Signage (posters) at train stations Posters and signage onboard the trains and shuttles 

Facebook and Twitter announcements 

o Email subscription alerts 

Page 91 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 36 

Where appropriate, information published by SMART will continue to be printed in English and Spanish. 

Other documents that may be translated include public hearing notices, outreach documents, fare 

increase notices, service change notices, station signs in areas identified as having a higher concentration 

of Limited English Proficient populations, and the website (www.sonomamarintrain.org). With the start 

of passenger revenue rail operations, customer services were provided for SMART by Golden Gate Transit 

through a contractual arrangement until 2020, when SMART began performing these functions with 

SMART staff. 

SMART will continue to make every effort to translate and print all route and other critical information in 

both English and Spanish. 

Information Dissemination 

SMART employs several methods to inform the public of ongoing projects and future fare and service 

changes in a timely manner.  Communication channels may include but are not limited to those listed 

above. 

Information published by SMART, including any future SMART Rider’s Guide, will be printed in English and 

Spanish. “Rider Alerts,” or their equivalent, which identify details about the train and shuttle bus service, 

will be printed in both English and Spanish. Other documents that will be translated include public hearing 

notices, outreach documents, fare increase notices, service change notices, construction notifications 

(further detailed in PPP Attachment A below), station signage (in areas identified as having a higher 

concentration of non‐English or ESL populations and the website (www.sonomamarintrain.org)). 

  

Page 92 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 37 

SMART Construction Outreach 
Track and Grade Crossing Construction Notification Protocols 

Summary: The goal of SMART construction outreach is to provide timely notification to businesses, 

property owners and tenants who live or work near the SMART right‐of‐way (ROW), who may be impacted 

by construction activities or crossing/road closures. We aim to ensure that nearby businesses and 

residents have as clear a picture as possible of all the activities that will take place on the right‐of‐way 

during construction. 

Track and Crossing construction outreach each have some unique requirements, and we have established 

two sets of protocols to ensure that notification is effective for both track construction activities and 

crossing/road closures. Each protocol is focused on communicating directly with anyone likely to be 

impacted by construction activities. 

During the Phase 1 system construction between 2012 and 2017, these protocols have been successful in 

keeping the community up to date and getting their questions answered. These protocols have also been 

used for the Larkspur Extension and Downtown Novato Infill projects (open December 2019) and the 

Windsor Extension (underway 2020 and 30% constructed prior to funding-related suspension being 

implemented).  These protocols will also be used for SMART rail and pathway extension projects.   

Track Construction Notification Protocol: 

This process generally begins 4‐8 weeks prior to construction.  

Activity: 

1. Create Google Earth maps showing business and residences in the areas identified for upcoming 

construction, with measurements showing 500 feet from track centerline. (Note: General practice 

for rail construction noticing is 300 feet, but SMART has elected to expand the baseline for 

noticing to 500 feet.) 

2. Following a review of Google Earth maps, conduct a driving/walking tour of the areas beyond the 

500‐ft zone to determine what additional areas/parcels have sight lines and/or probability for 

noise reflection during construction. Adjust notification areas in the map(s) accordingly. 

3. If determined that direct contact cannot be made, using Assessor’s Property data, generate 

notification address list of those residents and owners of both residential and commercial 

property within 500 feet of the centerline of the specific section of the SMART ROW that will be 

under construction. Identify homeowner’s associations and schools which are in the areas 

adjacent to the construction zone, as well as staff from local jurisdictions to be added to the 

Figure 15:  PPP Attachment A.  Construction Notification Protocol 

Page 93 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 38 

notification list. Verify that any property owners in contact with SMART on real estate 

negotiations are also included. 

4. Coordinate with Engineering & Construction to ensure that staff from local jurisdictions are aware 

of upcoming construction activity and receive invitations to attend any community meetings that 

have been scheduled. 

5. Identify and reserve a date, time, and a location convenient to the neighborhood, for one or more 

community meetings. The purpose of these meetings is to present an overview of all activities 

that will occur during construction and answer questions about construction topics. Meetings are 

generally scheduled in the evening so that those who work during the day can also attend. If 

construction areas are large enough to include multiple geographically unique neighborhoods, 

conduct multiple, conveniently located community meetings. 

6. Notify property owners, tenants, and businesses of upcoming community meetings via door 

hangers, flyers, paid media (and if necessary, US mail). All notifications include our Project 

Information telephone number for questions. These notices inform recipients that track 

construction will soon occur on the SMART ROW in their area and announce the meeting location, 

date and time. If US Mail is utilized, any mail that cannot be delivered by the postal carrier is 

returned to SMART Community Outreach, and SMART staff follows up on each item to determine 

if the owner of record has recently changed, or if the address is valid, and attempts to redeliver 

either via mail or visit to the address. 

7. Two weeks prior to the start of construction, conduct door‐to‐door canvassing to the addresses 

immediately adjacent to the right‐of‐way or construction zone to ensure that those who reside 

closest to the work being done receive an additional reminder.  If residents are home, staff speaks 

to them directly as well as leaving a reminder door hanger/flyer; if no one is home, the door 

hanger/flyer is left in as secure a location as possible near the door without violating rules 

concerning mailbox use. 

8. Conduct community meeting to present construction details and to answer questions. The 

general format is a joint presentation by Community Outreach, the Contractor Construction Leads 

and SMART Engineering staff with pictures and description of what we are building, equipment 

that is used, construction days and hours, processes that are followed during construction for 

monitoring, and finished result. Content is tailored for each meeting to include neighborhood‐

specific information. Ample time is allowed to take and respond to questions from the public. 

9. In the case where notification or community meetings precede the actual start of construction by 

more than 3‐4 weeks, additional door‐to‐door canvassing of areas adjacent to tracks is conducted 

with additional Track Construction Notification door hanger/flyers to ensure that residents and 

commercial buildings adjacent to the SMART ROW are informed of the start of construction. 

10. Maintain up to date information on the SMART Construction Updates web page (ongoing 

throughout process). 

11. Return calls to our Project Information line from the public (ongoing throughout process). 

  

Page 94 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 39 

Grade Crossing/Road Closure Protocol: 

This process generally begins 4‐8 weeks prior to full or partial closure of a crossing for construction. 

Samples of the notifications referenced below are at the end of this section.) 

There are cases where anticipated closure dates can change due to a variety of factors (including: weather, 

changes in construction schedule, working in partnership with local jurisdictions on accommodating their 

projects while SMART’s crossing improvements are underway), so this process is designed to maintain 

flexibility while ensuring those in the notification area are kept up to date. 

Activity 

1. Work closely with Construction Contractor to track crossing/road closures. A formal meeting is 

held once a week, supplemented by daily check‐ins with lead contractor and participation in the 

bi‐monthly “owners meeting.” With 3-6‐week look‐ahead. 

2. Generate Google Earth maps showing all businesses and residents in the area around a crossing 

identified for upcoming construction, with a measurement showing a 500‐foot radius around the 

crossing. (Note: General Practices is to notify within 300 feet, but SMART has elected to expand 

the baseline for noticing to 500 feet.) 

3. Following analysis of Google Earth maps, conduct a driving/walking tour of the areas around the 

crossing or road closure to determine additional residences and businesses that may be impacted 

by the crossing closure. Adjust notification zone accordingly. 

4. Determine businesses, residences, schools, and others within the notification zone of the specific 

crossing that will be closed for construction. (This is done with Google Earth maps and site 

field/site visits.) 

5. Coordinate with Engineering & Construction to ensure that staff from local jurisdictions are aware 

of upcoming crossing construction activity. Canvass crossing closure sites that have unique 

problems like lack of alternate routes to determine how best to minimize impacts. 

6. Visit (re‐canvass) each property within the notification zone to distribute crossing 

construction/closure information, speaking directly with business owners/managers, residents, 

property managers, school administration, etc. The construction information phone number is 

clearly located on all notification collateral materials and website. 

7. Distribute crossing/road closure information to public safety agencies, US Post Office, Garbage 

Haulers, Caltrans, COZEEP, REDCOMM etc. 

8. Issue Crossing Closure Advisories to local press with up‐to‐date closure information. 

9. Contractors place an electronic message boards along adjacent roadways announcing road 

closure (1‐ 2 weeks prior to closure). 

10. Maintain up to date information on the SMART Construction Updates web page (ongoing 

throughout process). 

11. Return calls to our Project Information line from the public (ongoing throughout process).  

Page 95 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 40 

Construction Notification Communications Materials - Examples 

Sample: Closure Notification Flyer (double‐sided English & Spanish). NOTE: The main communications 

approach for the public for crossing closures is message boards that go up 10‐14 days prior to the closure; 

the flyers are used for canvassing to residents and businesses immediately adjacent to the closure 

location. 

 

  

Page 96 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 41 

PPP ATTACHMENT B:  SCHOOL SAFETY ACTIVITY BOOK PAGE (SPANISH) 

  

Page 97 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 42 

PPP ATTACHMENT C: SMART PROJECT INFORMATION (SPANISH) 

  

Page 98 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 43 

APPENDIX D:  SMART DISTRICT LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY 

PLAN 

Limited English Proficiency Plan (LEP) 

This Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Plan has been prepared to address the Sonoma‐Marin Area Rail 

Transit District (SMART) responsibilities as a recipient of federal financial assistance as they relate to the 

needs of individuals with limited English language skills. The plan has been prepared in accordance with 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Federal Transit Administration Circular 4702.1A dated May 13, 2007, 

which state that no person shall be subjected to discrimination on the basis of race, color or national 

origin. 

Executive Order 13166, titled Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency 

indicates that differing treatment based upon a person’s inability to speak, read, write, or understand 

English is a type of national origin discrimination. It directs each federal agency to publish guidance for its 

respective recipients clarifying their obligation to ensure that such discrimination does not take place. This 

order applies to all state and local agencies which receive federal funds. 

Plan Summary 

SMART began operating full passenger service in August 2017.  SMART’s LEP Plan, first adopted in July 

2015, was developed while SMART was exclusively in a construction phase without operating service.  

SMART developed the LEP Plan to help identify reasonable steps for providing language assistance to 

persons with limited English proficiency that wish to access information about train construction and work 

is ongoing to adapt LEP services to the new transit operating environment.  Modifications to the LEP 

services offered through SMART will occur over time as needed.  As defined in Executive Order 13166, LEP 

persons are those who do not speak English as their primary language and have limited ability to read, 

speak, write, or understand English. 

This plan outlines how to identify a person who may need language assistance, the ways in which 

assistance may be provided, staff training that may be required, and how to notify LEP persons that 

assistance is available. 

To prepare this plan, SMART undertook the U.S. Department of Transportation (U.S. DOT) four‐ factor LEP 

analysis which considers the following factors: 

• The number or proportion of LEP persons in the service area who may be served or are likely to 

encounter a SMART program, activity, or service. 

• The frequency with which LEP persons that encounter SMART programs, activities, or services. 

• The nature and importance of programs, activities or services provided by SMART to the LEP 

population. 

• The resources available to SMART and overall cost to provide LEP assistance. 

A summary of the results of the SMART four‐factor analysis is in the following section. 

  

Page 99 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 44 

Four Factor Analyses 

Factor 1: The number or proportion of LEP persons eligible to be served or likely to be encountered by 

SMART 

SMART began full passenger service in August 2017.  SMART’s principal potential ridership consists of 

Marin County and Sonoma County residents. 

These census data show that the linguistically isolated population in the SMART service area is relatively 

small, 5.1% in 2010, up from 3.7% in 2000. As no 2010 data is available for the breakdown of language 

types, 2000 data is used for this analysis. Of the identified linguistically isolated populations, only Spanish 

speakers are found in significant numbers, with 2.5% of all households in 2000. In 2000, other linguistically 

isolated households are found in smaller numbers and grouped by the census into broader language 

categories such as Other Indo‐European (0.6%), Asian & Pacific Islander (0.5%), and ‘Other’ (0.1%). 

 

Table 7.  LEP Persons in SMART Service Area Counties. 

 Marin Sonoma Both Counties 
 2000 2010 2000 2010 2000 2010 

Population over 5 years 
old that speaks a 
Language other than 
English 

45,595 55,402 85,609 108,214 131,204 163,616 

Spanish or Spanish 
Creole 

22,287 30,246 59,480 82,231 81,767 112,477 

Other Indo‐European 15,281 16,448 14,305 11,116 29,586 27,564 

Asian and Pacific 
Islander 

6,754 7,696 9,535 12,760 16,289 20,456 

Other languages 1,273 1,012 2,289 2,107 3,562 3,119 

Source: U.S. Census, 2000, 2010. 

  

Page 100 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 45 

Table 8. Analysis of Linguistically Isolated Households in SMART Service Area Counties 

 Marin Sonoma Both Counties 

 2000 2010 2000 2010 2000 2010 

Total Households 100,736 103,210 172,690 185,825 273,426 289,035 

Households: Total Linguistically Isolated 3,729 5,057 6,465 9,663 10,194 14,720 

% Linguistically Isolated households 3.7% 4.9% 3.7% 5.2% 3.7% 5.1% 

Households: Spanish linguistically 
isolated 

2,296 n/a 4,658 n/a 6,954 n/a 

% Spanish linguistically isolated 
Households 

2.3% n/a 2.7% n/a 2.5% n/a 

Linguistically isolated Households: Other 
Indo‐European languages 

791 n/a 927 n/a 1,718 n/a 

% Other Indo‐European languages 
isolated households 

0.8% n/a 0.5% n/a 0.6% n/a 

Linguistically isolated Households: Asian 
& Pacific Islander Languages 

609 n/a 691 n/a 1,300 n/a 

% of all households 0.6% n/a 0.4% n/a 0.5% n/a 

Linguistically isolated Households: Other 
Languages 

33 n/a 189 n/a 222 n/a 

% of all households 0.0% n/a 0.1% n/a 0.1% n/a 

Non‐Spanish Linguistically isolated 1,433 n/a 1,807 n/a 3,240 n/a 

% of all households, non‐Spanish 
linguistically isolated 

1.4% n/a 1.1% n/a 1.2% n/a 

Source: U.S. Census 2000, 2010.  

 

Factor 2: The frequency with which LEP individuals encounter SMART 

Prior to Summer 2017, SMART was not providing any public passenger services and contact with the public 

occurred at community meetings, construction information meetings, public hearings, and via direct 

information requests and comments.  Now that SMART is providing passenger services, re-examinations 

are underway to determine adequacy of LEP outreach. 

SMART has identified that the only language other than English having a statistically significant population 

of isolated households is Spanish. To confirm this conclusion, SMART consulted with other social service 

organizations and transit agencies in the service area, including: 

• Community Action Partnership of Sonoma County. 

• Latino Leadership organization Los Cien. 

• Sonoma County Transit. 

• Transportation Equity Alliance of Marin (TEAM). 

SMART will primarily provide supplemental information in Spanish. On occasion, informational pieces may 

be printed in a language other than English or Spanish, if needed in the target market or area being served.  

Page 101 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 46 

From 2017-2020, SMART contracted with Golden Gate Transit for the provision of customer services 

including Call Center services in over 150 languages In 2020, SMART assumed customer services with 

SMART staff; similar language access has been made available through LanguageLine Solutions. 

Factor 3: The nature and importance of SMART to people’s lives 

Accessing SMART’s services will not require compulsory activities such as filing applications, seeking 

consent, or conducting interviews. In special cases, however, such as customers purchasing prepaid fares, 

or requiring an application for special discount programs for seniors, persons with a disability, or youth, 

care will be taken to provide language assistance when needed. 

It is worth noting that SMART’s active rail corridor lies within existing neighborhoods. SMART takes 

seriously the need to enhance public awareness of what constitutes safe behavior around the active 

railroad right of way and has taken a proactive approach to reach out to the community to convey a rail 

safety message and offers translations into Spanish and will provide language assistance to communicate 

rail safety to the public. 

Factor 4: The resources available to SMART and costs associated with providing language services 

Adequate resources are critical for successful LEP programs. Many costs associated with delivery of 
service to LEP individuals is already included in the daily cost of doing business in a diverse environment. 
To the extent they are not already included, SMART will endeavor to meet LEP service needs while 
managing costs to the extent possible. 

The cost of providing language assistance has been minimized by ensuring the statistically significant 

language population has translated materials and bi-lingual SMART staff and other languages are available 

through SMART’s contracted services with LanguageLine Solutions.  In the development of SMART’s 

Clipper-enabled fare collection machines, all screen interfaces were translated into Spanish for both the 

visual screens and the audio recordings made available through the audio-jack function for Americans 

with Disabilities Act compliance. 

SMART Providing Access to Services and Programs 

Community Relations 

In addition to the SMART Board of Directors, which takes public comment at all its regular meetings, 

SMART has convened ad hoc committees/workshops open to the public. These include the ongoing 

Citizens Oversight Committee and several ad‐hoc/workshops created for input on specific topics and have 

played an important role in formulating SMART’s policies and services. 

  

Page 102 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 47 

Citizens Oversight Committee 

The Measure Q Expenditure Plan requires this committee as part of its Implementing Guidelines, 

specifically: 

“A Citizens Oversight Committee will be established by the SMART Board to provide input and review on 

the Strategic Plan and subsequent updates.” 

The plan goes on to state that: 

“SMART will prepare a Strategic Plan, based on the commitments in this Expenditure 

Plan, prior to July 2009. The Strategic Plan will identify planned investments in capital 

implementation, operations and maintenance for the duration of the tax. The 

Strategic Plan will be updated at least every five years and approved by the SMART 

Board of Directors. The Strategic Plan will be developed with input from the public 

and the Citizens Oversight Committee.” 

Ad‐Hoc Advisory Committees/Workshops 

The SMART Board has created ad‐hoc committees to provide timely advice on a number of topics. On 

occasion, these ad‐hoc committees include public workshops and meetings to gather input. One example 

of such a process was when the SMART Board decided to conduct workshops rather than create a Board 

Ad‐Hoc Vehicle Advisory Committee. Public workshops and meetings were held to gather input regarding 

such issues as seating configurations, bicycle storage and other on‐board amenities. A similar workshop 

process was created regarding input on stations. To encourage broad public participation on station 

design issues, SMART scheduled a series of public workshops in every community along the rail corridor 

to solicit input regarding the ultimate project’s 16 rail stations. 

Language Assistance Measures 

• There are numerous language assistance measures available to LEP persons, including both oral 

and written language services. There are also ways in which SMART staff may respond to LEP 

persons, whether in person, by telephone or in writing. These include: 

• Post the SMART Title VI Program Statement and LEP Plan on the agency website, 

www.sonomamarintrain.org, in English and Spanish. 

• All public information meetings have a staff English‐Spanish language translator on site. 

• All information flyers, door hangers and letters to the public include Spanish Language 

translations. 

• Network with local human service organizations that provide services to LEP individuals and seek 

opportunities to provide information on SMART programs and services, including Community 

Action Partnership of Sonoma County and Los Cien. 

• Provide a bilingual SMART staff at community events, public hearings, and Board of Directors 

meetings. 

• Provide bilingual audio-visual fare machines. 

• Placement of statements in notices and publications that interpreter services are available for 

these meetings, with seven-day advance notice. 

• Provide multilingual customer service through LanguageLine Solutions. 

• Include language “Spanish a plus” on transit operator recruitment flyers and onboard recruitment 

posters.  

Page 103 of 105



 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 48 

Staff Training 

Title VI Program and language access training is provided to SMART administrative and operations staff 

upon hire and periodically thereafter and includes the following: 

• Information on the SMART Title VI Procedures and LEP responsibilities Description of language 

assistance services offered to the public. 

• Use of Language Identification Flashcards Documentation of language assistance requests.  

• Use of phone translation services via LanguageLine Solutions. 

• How to handle a potential Title VI/LEP complaint. 

Outreach Techniques 

When staff prepares a document or schedules a meeting where the target audience is expected to include 

LEP individuals, then documents, meeting notices, flyers, and agendas will be printed in the language of 

the known LEP population(s). Interpreters will be available as needed. 

When presenting information at a public meeting, SMART makes available a Spanish Language translator 
upon request. All information flyers, door hangers and letters to the public include attached Spanish 
Language translation in the primary distribution format. 

Monitoring and Updating the LEP Plan 

SMART will update the LEP periodically as required by U.S. DOT. The update may include information 

regarding the following: 

• The number of documented LEP person contacts encountered annually; How the needs of LEP 

persons have been addressed. 

• The current LEP population in the SMART service area if the need for translation services has 

changed. 

• If local language assistance programs have been effective and sufficient to meet the need. 

• If SMART’s financial resources are sufficient to fund the language assistance resources needed. 

• A possible survey of train operators and other front‐line staff, like dispatchers, administrative 

assistants, and planners, on their experience concerning any contacts with LEP persons. 

• The extent to which SMART has complied with the goals of this LEP Plan. 

• If complaints have been received concerning SMART’s failure to meet the needs of LEP individuals. 

Dissemination of the SMART LEP Plan 

A link to the SMART LEP Plan and the Title VI Program Statement and Procedures is included on the SMART 

website at www.sonomamarintrain.org .  Any person or agency with internet access will be able to access 

and download the plan from the SMART website.  Alternatively, any person or agency may request a copy 

of the plan via telephone, fax, mail, or in person and shall be provided a copy of the plan at no cost.  LEP 

individuals may request copies of the plan to be provided in alternative languages and SMART will 

endeavor to fulfill those requests. 

  

Page 104 of 105

http://www.sonomamarintrain.org/


 

September 2021   SMART | Title VI – Page 49 

Additional Information 

Questions or comments regarding the LEP Plan may be submitted to the following listed below: 

By mail or in person: 

SMART 
Attn: Title VI Coordinator 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 

Telephone: 

(707) 794‐3330 

Email: 

info@sonomamarintrain.org. 

For Title VI complaints, please include “Title VI Complaint” in the subject line. 

Fax: 

(707) 794‐3037, attention Title VI Coordinator 

Page 105 of 105

mailto:info@sonomamarintrain.org

	01_Agenda_09.15.2021
	02_Minutes_09.01.2021_Final
	06a_August Monthly Ridership Staff Report
	06b_Civic Edge Amendment No. 2 Staff Rport
	06c_CALPERS Retirment (Hames) Staff Report
	07_Sole Source Purchase Staff Report (Mahle Industrial Thermal Systems America)
	08_TitleVI_update 2021



